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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 July 2011

Introduction

in the year ended 31 July 2011, YouGov has recorded a high level of growth and significantly increased
profits These results were very much in ine with the budget set out at the beginning of the year They
reflect the management’s success In achieving our Group targets and delivering better than expected
results from the US acquisitions made dunng the year

Results

This year's revenue of £56 im represents an increase of 27% over the pnor year Organic growth
(excluding the effect of acquisihons and disposals) of 9% was well ahead of the research market,
particularly in the UK and US Adjusted operating profits increased by £1 5m (40%) to £5 3m Cash
generated from operations was £5 6m Our cash balance at the end of the year was £9 4m compared to
£156m at 31 July 2010 This was after expenditure in the year of £8 1m on acquisttions and

Investments

The Board does not propose the payment of a dividend at this time but this policy 1s kept under review

Strategy

While this year's performance has benefitted from US acquisitions, 1t has also re-affirmed the strength
of our core business mode! of online market research This core model delivers accurate information
rapidiy using our tughly responsive oniine panel supported by our own technology and strong analytics
capability This includes proprietary research data and reports as well as custom research conducted by
our specialist teams using the common operating platform which 1s tailored to the needs of individual

clients and sectors

As identified previously, we are achieving success with our core products and services even in markets
such as Germany where there 1s greater resistance to change With the evidence of client demand for
our rich panel-derived data and a stronger delivery platform we are planning to expand our core model
further into new terntories, new markets, and also to launch more new products Some of these such as
business Inteligence and products talored for the nvestment community have already been

successfully fnalled this year

Effective execution Is clearly vital to the delivery of our strategy especially when we expand
geographically The Board was pleased with progress in Amenica which 15 now our largest operation
Our first acquisition - Polimetrix - was made there in 2006 and has proved to be an excellent basis for
expansion In August 2010, we purchased Harrison Group in Connecticut and in April 2011, Definitive
Insights in Oregon We believe that after a few false starts, YouGov 15 now demonstrating its atility to
make good acquisitions and integrate them successfully

Board and Management

To continue to deliver our plans for future expansion and roll-out of our main products across all our
businesses, we have announced a number of management changes since the year-end

In August 2011, Doug Rivers joined the board as Chief Innovations Officer to lead the development of
YouGov's key data products and ther exploitation across the Group Doug was the founder of
Polimetrix which 1s the core of YouGov's Amercan business and has been CEO, YouGov Amenca
since 2007 Doss Struse, currently Managing Partner of Definitive Insights, has been appointed as
President of YouGov America, responsible for its operational management ncluding the continued
integration of the recently acquired businesses Doss brings extensive experience In managing
international research businesses which will help to maintain the rapid growth of our US business
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In parallel with these changes, we have promoted Tim Britton, CEO, YouGov UK to the new role of
Chief Operating Officer, Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) He will be responsible for directing
YouGov's operations and implementing the busingss and management strategy across the region Phil
Rance, formerly Managing Director, EMEA at Research Now, has succeeded Tim i the role of

Managing Director, YouGov UK

In Germany, we have appointed Andreas Sperling as the new CEO, completing the management re-
organisation undertaken earher in the year Andreas has held senior management roles n the research
sector in Europe and Asia notably as CEO, Africa, Asia Pacific and Managing Director, Germany of
Millward Brown We look forward to Andreas bringing his skills and experience to bear it dniving the
changes that are still needed to bring the performance of our German business into line with the rest of

the Group

Growth

Our focus in the coming year 15 on growing the core business as well as extending the model to new
markets and new customers through organic start-ups and joint ventures We remain open to adding
“tuck-In" acquisitions If the night opportunities anise We have the internal resources to fund these The
Board has approved selective investments in new products such as SixthSense which are intended to

create new long-term sources of profitable revenue

Prospects

We face economic volatility and uncertainty across all the markets in which we operate and our chents
are likely to be conservative in their spending plans While we will maintain good control over operating
costs to reflect this, we are in a rapidly changing industry and will  keep investing in new products and
services with good potential so as to deliver long-term profit growth Trading m the first couple of
months has been satisfactory and in line with the Board’s expectations

Roger Parry
Chairman
10 October 2011
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We are pleased to report another year of significant revenue and profit growth, bulding on the progress
made last year As expected, our performance In the second half of this financial year folliowed a similar
trend to that in the first half Our Group’s full year revenue increased by 27% and adjusted operating
profit by 40% compared to the prior year While the recent US acquisiions of Harnson Group and
Definitive Insights contributed to this performance, we also achieved healthy orgamic growth Our UK,
US and Scandinavian operations have all reported double-digit organic growth and gained market

share

The US 1s now our largest region in terms of revenue, with the newly acquired businesses performing
ahead of onginal expectations and contributing significantly to Group profits As importantly, they are
fulfiling our abjective of expanding YouGov's US reach into the corporate research market and have
added a number of US based global brands to our chent base Our UK business continued to grow well
and generate good margins as well as initiating the development of SixthSense, our new reports
business Scandinavia completed its turnaround to profitability on a full year basis while the Middle East
succeeded In delivening higher profits year-on-year despite the expected reduction in revenue from a
major long-term Iraqi contract This demonstrates our ability to exploit new opportunities 1n the Middle
East building on the strong relationships, reputation and panel that we have developed in the region

Overall, we have delivered in line with expectations This was despite a disappointing performance In
Germany where the benefits of the re-organisation of operations and management that we began this
year have been slower to matenalise than we hoped However, since the new CEO took up his position
shortly after the year end, the pace of improvement s accelerating

During the last year we have expanded our philanthropic and educational reach by collaborating on
projects with major UK Universites At the beginning of 2011, YouGov entered into an academic
partnership with the Department of Politics and Intemationa! Studies at Cambndge University, to
establish a think-tank and centre of excellence for public opinion research The not-for-profit partnership
was formally launched in September 2011 Earlier in the year, YouGov collaborated with Impenal
College and Unwversity College, London in a pilot of StartUp Summer, a development programme for
student entrepreneurs, which was supported by StartUp Bntain, a Government inhative to accelerate

enterpnse in the UK
Looking ahead

We continue to pursue our strategy of strengthening the foundations of our business while developing
new products and markets — bullding on our core strengths and innovating for the future

We will also continue to manage our cost base tightly and to ensure that we make best use of the
engine we have built That engine (the combination of high-response panel, technological platform for
data collection and panel management, and our profile data library) cost-effectively delivers quality data
and insight through a scalable model There 1s additional potential for drnving more value from that
model and in the coming year we will further advance our products and our productised methodologies
We will also continue to harmonise our marketing and sales systems across the Group i particular to
increase cross-border work This will be one of the key prionties for the new senior management In
EMEA and Amenca

We will also be expanding into new geographies to meet growing demand for our core suite of online
products We have already established a new panet of over 50,000 members in France which began fo
run s first commercial surveys in September 2011 and plan to open a sales office in Pans in November
2011 We are also actively evaluating entry strategies for other key markets

Brandindex, our flagship brand intelligence service, maintamned its high growth continuing to win new
customers 1n all our markets resulting in revenue up by 35% We have now developed a new version of
the product, with major enhancements that will make 1t even easier for clients to integrate Brandindex
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with therr day-to-day management information The new Brandindex version 1s now being successfully
tnaled with two chents and will be rolled out across the US and UK over the course of the year

SixthSense, our business mtelligence service that combmnes primary research data with that from other
sources as well as nformed commentary, launched in the UK n 2010 and grew well In its first full
financial year of operation lts product list now compnses some 140 reports whose scope ranges from a
whole sector (such as Food and Drink) down to an in-depth study of a category (such as Baby Foods)
in October 2010, we aiso developed (with Bloomberg) the first of a senes of macro-data products
HEAT (Household Economic Activity Tracker) which measures consumer economic activity and
confidence and now covers the UK, USA and China This will form part of the new reports business
aimed at the investment community to be Jaunched during the current financial year

We wiil also be bringing to market a new data product that brings together existing YouGov methods
with new data sources to provide chents with faster and more holistic information direct to their desk
tops Given the ever-increasing consumer connectivity and empowerment, which creates rising
uncertainty and volatility In markets, we beiieve that there wiil be a demand for the kind of conbinuous-
flow up-to-the-moment primary data that YouGov can provide

Finally, we are creating a new web presence with a greater emphasis on Interactivity and
expermentation to make beng a member of the YouGov panel a more distinctive and worthwhile
expenience The new website, which goes live In November, will support innovative tools for social
media analysis and marketing We beleve that constantly improving the quality, size and
responsiveness of the panel will become an increasingly important asset for our business which we

beleve 15 unique to the research industry

Current trading

We expect good revenue growth to continue this year, despite the anticipated ending of the histonc
contract i Irag by the end of 2011 YouGov remains committed to making additional investments In
new products and geographical expansion which will support further growth The current year will see
further benefits from our US acquisitions and continued gains in other markets We are also more
confident of improving the German results with the new management Ih place

Current trading is 1n hne with the Board's expectations and with our strong balance sheet we remain
confident of our ability to meet our chents' changing research needs despite increasing uncertainty in

the macro-economic environment

Review of Operations

UK
Year to Year to
31 July 2011 31 July 2010 % Change
£m £m
Revenue 13.7 121 13%
Qperating Profit 3.5 34 3%
Operating Profit
Margin {%) 24% 2%

Our UK business has continued to perform well with revenues 13% tugher than the prior year This
strong growth, weill ahead of the market, was largely due to our products business which grew by 22%
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overall This area includes Brandindex, which grew revenue by 20% and our market leading Omnibus
service which grew by 16% as it continued to expand its infernational coverage It also includes the first
full year contribution from SixthSense, our new business inteligence service This provides In-depth
reports on a range of sectors drawing on YouGov's pnimary research data as well as other specialist
data sources and expert views Some 140 report titles are now available covering 400 topic areas Our
sector based custom research teams grew revenue by 7% and continued to add new clients such as
Argos, the Penguin Group and Lawn Tennis Association while renewing major contracts with clients
such as Asda, Costa Coffee and News International Operating profits grew marginally to £3 Sm due to
a combination of lower gross margins which reflected a change of product mix, more International work
and to the investment of approximately £0 4m in SixthSense and in our sales and business delivery

teams to support further growth

USA
Year to Year to o
31 July 2011 31 July 2610 % Change % Otganc
£m £m g
Revenue 15.9 48 231% 32%
Operating Profit 1.9 0.5 280% 58%
Operahng Profit a "
Marain (%) 12% 10%

Our US revenue has more than tripled this year compared to last due to strong organic growth {(32%) In
the onginal business as well as the acquisitions of Harrison Group tn August 2010 and Definitive
Insights in Aprti 2011 which contributed combined revenue of some £9 6m

As well as performing ahead of expectations, these acquisiions have as intended, created a much
more significant presence for YouGov In the US corporate research market alongside our histonc
poltical and academic strengths Corporate clients now account for some 80% of our US revenue with
the acquired businesses bnnging major clients such as GTECH and Microsoft and Panasonic  As they
largely undertake ther research using online methods, this has helped the integration process and
offers further synergy benefits through migration of work to the YouGov panel We have also drawn on
the management resources they brought i with the appointment of Doss Struse, Managing Partner of
Defintive Insights, as President in charge of operations of our entre US business, which was
announced In August 2011 One of his initial tasks will be to complete the re-branding of our US custom

research units under a single YouGov brand

Within our onginal US business, Brandindex continued to grow weill in the USA, with revenue increasing
by 55% over last year and new clients including Skechers and Kaplan Thaler Marketing Insights
(acquired in Apnl 2009), which specialises in customer segmentation, also performed well with revenue
up by 33% and met the targets for the current year of ts earn-out Its clents thus year included
Bloomberg and Panasonic Political research remans important to the US business, and represented
10% of revenue this year due to the 2010 mid-term elections It is pleasing to report the growing
acceptance of online methods for political polling In the US which 1s beginning to catch up with
commercial research where it has been the norm for a number of years
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Middle East
Year to Year to
31 July 2011 31 July 2010 % Change

£m £m
Revenue 7.5 72 4%
Operating Profit 19 14 36%

Operatlng(;r)oﬂt Margin 25% 19%

(+]

We have been successful this year in our strategy of growing the size and profitability of the regionally
generated business so as to offset the expected scaling down of a long-term contract in Iraq This 1s
reflected 1n a smail overall revenue growth of 4% (6% in local currency terms) and a significant increase
In annual operating profits helped by the full year benefit of the cost reductions undertaken early in
2010 Locally generated revenue increased by 34% and now represents nearly 60% of the total This
reflected the planned expansion in oniine data services which more than tripled their revenue due to
more aggressive marketing of our panel which now covers 21 countries In the Middle East and North
Africa and continued growth in the client base for Brandindex and Omnibus products Qur local custom
research which focuses mainly on clients in the UAE and Saudi Arabia grew revenue by 21% Major
clents include Pepsico, Saudi Telecom and Johnson & Johnson We have also established a
collaboration with Al-Aan TV to prowide surveys for their pan-regional Arab language channels In line
with YouGov's policy of gaining a higher profile through media engagement While the political
developments in the region during the year clearly create uncertainty, we believe that they will provide
more opportunities for YouGov to generate value through our abiiity to provide up-to-date information on
the views and attitudes of people across the Middle East We have already demonstrated thus through
opinion polis we published on Egyptian and Pakistan views duning the last year

The revenue from our Irag contract fell by 16% In the year as the client's requirements for research
continued to be scaled back This will reduce further 1n the current year and we expect the contract to
end by December 2011 We will build on the success of our regionally generated business which we

expect will continue to grow significantly

Dunng the year we purchased the 22% minority interest in the Middle East business from the local
shareholders Full control of the business wiil help us to achieve our plans for further development

Germany
Year to Year to o, % Change
31 Jugn2011 3 thymzow Change excluding
GPW
Revenue 114 13.8 {17)% (9)%
QOperating Profit 03 0.4 (33)%
Operating Profit Margin (%) 2% 3%

Our German business 1s a substantial company in a major world market but 1s stil only part way through
the transition towards becoming an operation that fits with YouGov's core model and its results clearly
reflect this  Overall revenue declined by 9% on a like-for-like basis (after excluding the Great Place to
Work business disposed of in December 2010) However, the new online products business which
started up two years ago and includes our flagship Omnibus and Brandindex products, continued its
excellent performance, growing revenue by 80% to £1 3m Its offer, which 1s new to the German market,
has attracted many new clients to YouGov and it also has ugher margins than the traditional business
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As reported at the half year, revenue In the custom research business has been declining due to the
financial services sector which was a traditional strength although there has been progress In winning
new clients in the automotive and technology sectors such as Mazda, Fuytsu and Nokia Siemens
Some cost-reductions have been achieved through the closure of one unprofitable custom team which
will save £0 5m annually and the ongoing re-engineering of the core business processes Following the
appointment of Andreas Sperling, a former regional CEO of Millward Brown, as CEO we believe that we
now have the leadership in place to take the sigmficant actions necessary to complete the
transformation and enable YouGov to exploit the opportunities available in the German market

Scandinavia

Year to Year to %
31 July 2011 31 July 2010
£m £m Change
Revenue 83 7.0 19%
Operating Profit/(Loss) 0.6 01 500%
Operating Profit Margin {%) 7% 1%

In the full year, our Scandinavian business maintaned the good performance reported at the half year
and achieved revenue growth of 19% as well as a significant increase In profitabiity following the
improvement measures taken last year It gained market share with revenue growth of 19% overall and
33% In Sweden, the region’s largest market where new business development was very successful In
February 2011, we launched a new Swedish political opinion service led by Lars Bjdrkman, a
recogmised expert In the field Our annual syndicated study, the Nordic Food and Health Survey has
also attracted a number of new clients The business's major clients in the penod included Nordisk Film

Egmont, SonyEncsson and VisitSweden

Stephan Shakespeare
Chief Executive Officer
10 October 2011
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Income Statement Review

Group turnover for the year to 31 July 2011 of £56 1m was 27% higher than the prior year and 9% on a
like-for-Iike basis, excluding the effect of acquisiions and disposals In constant currency terms revenue
grew by 29% As expected, the highest growth was in the US at 32% organicaily and 231% n total
following the two acquisitions made dunng the year UK, Middle East and Scandinavia also grew their
revenue but Germany's fell by 9% organically {excluding Great Place to Work (GPW) disposed of durng

the year)

The Group's gross profit (after deducting costs of panel incentives and external data collection)
increased by £7 9m to £42 2m although the gross margin fell by 3% points to 75% from 78% due largely
to the higher proportion of external data collection undertaken by the Amencan acquired businesses

Operating expenses (excluding amortisation and exceptional items) of £37m were £6 4m higher than
last year, a total increase of 21% but only 13% in organic terms {excluding the businesses acquired and
disposed of in the year) The operating expense ratio fell to 66% compared to 69% in the prior year
reflecting the effect of savings measures taken In the previous 18 months although investments in staff
were made duning the year to support new business mittatives (such as SixthSense) and continued

growth in existing areas

The average number of staff {full-tme equivalents) employed during the year increased to 476 from 420
in the previous year The net growth of 56 staff reflected the addition of 58 in Harnson and Definitive
Insights and a reduction of 26 due to the sale of GPW Germany This represents an underlying increase
of 24 Average revenue per head increased to £118k from £105k in the previous year

Adjusted group operating profit increased by 40% to £5 3m compared to £3 8m in the previous year
Adjusted profit before taxation, which includes net interest income, rose by £1 8m to £5 8m Adjusted
earnings per share’ for the year rose by 88% to 4 7p (2010 2 5p), reflecting the improved profitabiity of
the business The reported result before taxation (after charging amortisation, impairment and
exceptional items) showed a profit of £0 4m compared to a restated loss of £10 6m In the year ended

31 July 2010
Amortisation of Intangible Assets and Imparrment

Amortisation charges for intangible assets totalled £3 8m (2010 £3 7m) In the year of which £3 Om
(2010 £2 6m) related to acquired assets and £08m (2010 £11m) to those created through the

Group’s own Internal development activities

Exceptional items

Exceptional costs of £1 1m (2010 restated £2 8m) were incurred In the year £0 5m related to costs
incurred in respect of the US acquisitions made in the year and £0 5m to restructuring costs in Germany
including the disposal of the GPW business in Germany and Austria

1 Adjusted earnings per share Is calculated based on the post-tax result derved from the adjusted
profit before tax
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Analysis of Operating Profit and Earnings per Share’

31 July 31 July
2011 2010
£000 £'000
Group operating profit before amortisation
of intangibles, impairment & exceptional
costs 5,269 3,776
Share-based payments 337 148
Imputed interest 202 48
Net finance income 58 5
Share of post-tax loss In joint ventures and
associates (32) (8)
Adjusted profit before tax 5,834 3,969
Adjusted profit after tax 4,459 2,432
Adjusted earnings per share (pence) 4.7 25
Cash flow

The Group generated £5 6m in cash from operations (before paying interest and tax) (2010 £4 9m) and
paid out £11 Om In investing and financing activities (2010 £3 Om) £2 7m of this (2010 £2 3m) related
to capital expenditure on tangible and intangible assets and £8 1m (2010 £0 6m) to acquisttiens

including deferred consideration

Taxation

The Group had a tax credit of £nil (2010 £2 6mjon a reported basis The current tax charge of £0 2m
(2010 £0 2m) was offset by a deferred tax credit of £0 2m (2010 £2 8m) On an adjusted basis the tax
charge was £1 4m (2010 £1 5m) which represents an imphed tax rate of 24% on the adjusted profit

before tax (2010 35%)

Balance Sheet

Total shareholders’ funds rose to £55 8m from £55 2m at 31 July 2010 However, total net assets fell to
£55 9m compared to £59 2m at 31 July 2010 as the purchase of non-controlling interests in the Middle
East and YouGovStone led to non-controlling interests falling by £3 Sm, almost to £nil Cash balances
fell by £6 2m to £9 4m from £15 6m as at 31 July 2010 due largely to the cash expenditure on the US
acquisttions and non-controling interests This contributed to a reduction of £7 5m In net current assets
to £10 Om from £17 5m Debtor days were constant at 61 Current habiities increased by £3 5m to
£16 4m from £12 9m Creditor days fell shghtly to 32 days from 34 days in 2010
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Panel development

As at 31 July 2011, the Group’s online panels comprnised a total of 2,867,100 panelists (defined as the
number of panel registrations), an increase of 14% over the total of 2,510,500 as at 31 July 2010 The

panel sizes by region were

Region Panel Size Panel Size

at 31 July 2011 at 31 July 2010
UK 405,800 338,300
Middle East & North Africa 351,700 214,000
Germany & Central Europe 152,800 81,600
Scandinavia & Northern Europe 162,800 129,600
USA 1,768,200 1,747,000
France 25,800 -
Total 2,867,100 2,510,500

Panel numbers have grown across all hubs in the current financial year This 1s both due to the
continually Increasing levels of online survey activity and also an active commitment to panel growth
being pursued by our global panel team In the US the year on year increase was marginal due to a
penicdical review of paricipants leading to those with low or no activity being taken off the panel

Corporate Development Activities

On 16 August 2010, the Group acquired 100% of Harnson Group, a leading US market research
agency for a basic purchase consideration of six times the ERBITDA achweved by Hammson n the year
ended 31 December 2010 of $2 4m (£1 5m) which amounts to a total of $14 3m (£9 1m) $60m
(£3 8m) of this was paid on complefion and $3 Om (£1 8m) was pard in Apri 2011 The balance will be
payable in nstalments in 2012 and 2013, contingent upon the results achieved in 2010 and 2011 An
additional payment of up to $1 2m (£0 8m) will be payable in 2013 contingent upon strong EBITDA
growth targets being achieved in the calendar years 2011 and 2012

On 1 Apnl 2011, the Group acquired 100% of Definitive Insights (DW), a custom research company
based in Oregon, USA The basic purchase consideration payable is 4 5 times the average EBITDA of
DI for the two financial years ending 31 January 2013 plus an addiional incentive of up to 20%
contingent upon EBITDA growth between 2012 and 2013 exceeding 30% If the full Incentive 1s paid,
this would bring the total multiple up to 5 times EBITDA for the year ended 31 January 2013 If DI
achieves its business plan targets for the 2 years to January 2013, the eam-out payment will be $4 7m
(£2 9m), which together with the initial iInvestment gives a total price of $5 7m (£3 5m)

On 31 October 2010, the Group purchased the 22% shareholding that we did not already own in our
Middie East business (YouGov ME FZ LLC) from the minonty shareholders The consideration for this
purchase was £1 9m which represented a discount of £1 Sm (£1 7m net of associated costs) compared
to the book value of minority interests of £3 8m  This purchase will improve the abiity of the Group to
develop our Middle Eastern business as well as enhancing the earnings attnbutable to YouGov's

shareholders

As part of our strategy of focusing our attention in Germany on our core and strategic market research
business, YouGov disposed of Great Place to Work Deutschland GmbH ("GPW Gemmany”), a wholly
owned unit within YouGovPsychonomics AG, our German subsidiary, through a management buy-out
led by the CEQ of YouGovPsychonomics and the CEO of GPW Germany The sale was completed on
31 December 2010 and proceeds of the disposal amounted to £0 5m

On 24 November 2010, the Group mnvested £0 5m In return for a shareholding of 25% in CoEdrtor
Limited, of which Doughty Media 2 Limited, a company controlled by Stephan Shakespeare, owns 75%

10
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CoEditor has developed software and expertise In the field of news and content aggregation which will
be provided exclusively to YouGov for the purpose of providing dedicated content and activities for
members of YouGov's online panels CoEditor's main business objective 1s to exploit its ntellectual
property nights in markets and activities outside market research YouGov also has optiens to acquire
additional shares which will enable it to benefit from increases in CoEditor's equity value resutting from

its business development

On 6 June 2011, the Group purchased the 49% shareholding that we did not already own In
YouGovStone Limited from Carole Stone, the CEQ and founder of the business This was undertaken
pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement entered into when the joint venture business was established
in April 2007 The total consideration for the purchase was £0 8m which was satisfied as to £07m In
cash and as to £0 1m by the i1ssue to Carole Stone of 228,833 ordinary shares in YouGov plc These
shares may not be sold for a penod of twelve months from the date of issue Carole Stone has become
Executive Charrman of YouGovStone following the transaction The prior year financial statements have
been restated to reflect the hability at 31 July 2010 n respect of the put-option held by Carcle Stone

which was exercised in the year under review

Alan Newman
Chief Fimancial Officer
10 October 2011
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 July 2011

Principal activities
YouGov carries out online research using propretary software to produce accurate market research,
political and med:a optnion polling and stakeholder consultation The use of internet-based research

enables YouGov to produce accurate research using larger sample sizes while keeping costs lower
than tradittonal research companies that use telephone and face-to-face interview techniques

Business review
The business review 1s discussed on pages 3 -7

Principal nsks and uncertainties

The principal nisks and uncertainties are discussed In the Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 —
26

Financial summary

The financial summary s discussed on pages 8 - 11 of the Chief Financial Officer's Report

Dwvidends
No dividends were declared in the year (2010 £nil)

Future developments
Future developments are discussed in more detail in the Chalrman's statement on pages 1to 2

Events after the reporting date

Events after the reporting date are discussed in more detall in note 27 onpage 77

Directors

The Directors of the Company who were n office during the year and at any point up to the date of
sigrung this report were

Roger Parry {Chairman)

Stephan Shakespeare

Alan Newman

Doug Rivers (appointed 11 August 2011)
Peter Bazalgette

Nick Jones

Ben Eliot {appointed 2 August 2010)

12
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New Directors

Ben Elliot joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director on 2 August 2010 Benis Co-Chairman of
Quintessentially which he co-founded 1n 2000 Prior to this Ben co-founded several other companies
ncluding K-Bar and members clubs Rock and Kabaret He graduated from the University of Bnstol

with a degree in Economics and Politics

Doug Rivers joined the Board as Chief Innovations Officer and an Executive Director on 11 August
2011 Doug was CEO of YouGov's Amencan business from 2007 to 2011, following YouGov's
acquisition of Polimetnx which Doug founded in 2004 He s also a Professor of Political Science at

Stanford University and holds a PhD from Harvard University and a BA from Columbia University

Directors' interests in shares

The interests of the Directors in the shares of the Company 31 July 2011 and 31 July 2010 were as

follows

31 July 2011

31 July 2010

Number of Shares

Number of Shares

Stephan Shakespeare ' 10,939,110 10,939,110
Alan Newman 25,000 25,000
Roger Parry 52,000 25,000
Peter Bazalgeite 263,976 200,945
Nick Jones - N

Ben Efiot - -

1 Includes 5 ordinary shares held by Stephan’s wife, Rosamund Shakespeare
The Directors’ Interests in share options are detailed 1n the Remuneration Report on page 18

No Director had either, during or at the end of the year, a matenal interest in any contract which was
significant in relation to the Group's business

Employee involvement and communication

The Company has continued its practice of keeping employees informed of matters affecting them as

employees and the financial and economic factors affecting the performance of the Company

Applications for employment by disabled persons are given full and far consideration for all vacancies

in accordance with their particular aptitudes and abilr

every effort 1s made to retrain them in order that their employment with the Company may continue
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It is the policy of the Company that traning, career development and promotion opportunities should be
avallable to all employees

Employees are encouraged to own shares In the Company, and many employees are shareholders
and/or hold options under the Company’s share option schemes including the newly launched LTIP
scheme Information about the Company's affars 1s communicated to employees through regular
management meetings, our newsletter, intranet and social events

Policy on supplher payments

The Company ams to pay all its suppliers within a reasonable period of their invoices being received
and approved, provided that the supplier has performed in accordance with the relevant terms and
conditions At 31 July 2011, the number of days credit taken for purchases by the Group was 32 days
(2010 34 days) The number of days credit taken for purchases by the Company was 33 days (2010

28 days)
Substantial shareholders

At 31 July 2011 the following had notfied the Company of disclosable mnterests in 3% or more of the
nominal value of the Company's shares

Name Shareholding
JO Hambro Capital Management | 11,200,000 11 53%
Stephan Shakespeare* 10,939,110 11 26%
Balshore Investments 10,029,100 10 33%
Kabouter Management 5,987,000 B 16%
T Rowe Price Global Investments | 5,861,948 03%
BlackRock 5,415,311 5 58%
Close Asset Management 4,597,601 4 73%
Invesco Perpetual 4,182,362 4 31%
Bailie Gifford 3,907,571 4 02%
Standard Life Investments 3,168,885 26%

1 Includes 5 ordinary shares held by Stephan’s wife, Rosamund Shakespeare
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Key performance indicators

Key performance indicators are discussed in more detall on page 0 and In the Chief Financial Officer’s
Report on page 8

Financial risks

The financia! nisks facing the Group are discussed in more detail In note 21 on pages 72 to 74

Research and development

The Group's research and development actwities centre on the development of bespoke software
solutions to support and advance our online capabiliies No research and development was charged to
the consolidated income statement in either 2011 or 2010 and £1 6m (2010 £1 0m) was capitalised and

included within intangible fixed assets

Social responsibility

The Group recognises the importance of respecting and supporting the communities In which it
operates and, thus, improving the positive impact of business Iin society

Ethical behaviour

YouGov expects its employees to exercise high ethical and moral standards at all times whilst
representing the Company

The environment

The Group recogmises that the wise use of resources delivers both enwvironmental and financiat
benefits As part of our overall approach to Corporate Responsibility we aim to promote the
maintenance of a healthy environment through responsible and sustainable consumption and

production

Our operations are predominately office based, and here we try to minimise our impacts where
practcable As part of this policy we
« ensure that all waste 15 stored and disposed of responsibly, and recycle where possible,

e ensure that paper used comes from reputable managed forests, and
« comply, where requrred, with the Packaging (Essental Requrements) Regulations and the

Packaging Waste Regulations
Health and safety

The Group takes all reasonable and practicable steps to safeguard the health, safety and welfare of its
employees and recognises its responsibilities for the health and safety of others who may be affected

by its activiies
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Diversity in the workplace

The Group 1s committed to providing a working environment in which its employees are able to realise
their potential and to contnbute to business success Irrespective of gender, marital status, ethnic cngin,

nationality, religion, disabiity, sexual onentation or age

Charitable and political contributions

Donations to chantable organisations amounted to £46,430 (2010 £1,000) This included an annual
subscnption of £45,000 in respect of the “YouGov-Cambndge” programme, an academic partnership
established with Cambndge University’'s Department of Politics and International Studies  No political

donations were made In the year or in the previous year

Insurance of company officers

The Company has mamntained during the financial year, Directors’ and officers’ kability insurance which
gives appropriate cover for any legal action brought against its Directors In accordance with section
236 of the Companies Act 2006, qualifying third-party indemnity provisions are in place for the Directors
and Company Secretary In respect of habilites incurred as a result of therr office, to the extent permitted
by law This insurance was In force at the date of signing of the financial statements

Going concern

Having made enquines, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has sufficient
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future For this reason, they continue

to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts

Independent Auditors

In accordance with section 418(2) of the Companies Act 2006, each of the Company’s Directors in
office as at the date of this repart confirms that

e 5o far as the Director 1s aware, there 1s no relevant audit information of which the Company's

auditors are unaware, and
« all steps that ought to have been taken as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant

audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information
The Group audtors are PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP A resoluton to re-appoint

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors to the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting
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Annual General Meeting

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on 7 December 2011 at our offices at 50
Featherstone Street, London EC1Y 8RT

Alan Newman
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

On behalf of the board
10 Qctober 2011
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The Remuneration Committee compnised at 31 July 2011 two non-executive Directors, Peter Bazalgette
and Nick Jones

Remuneration Report

A resolution will be put to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 7 December
2011 inviting them to consider and approve this report The remuneration report i1s unaudited, except

where stated
Compliance

The constitution and operation of the Committee is in comphiance with the pninciples and best practice
provisions as set out in the Combined Code as if it were followed and full consideration was given to
these in determining the remuneration packages for the executive Directors for 2010/11

This 1s not a remuneration report as defined by Company law
Policy on Remuneration of Executive Directors

The Remuneration Committee reviews the performance of executive Directors and sets the scale and
structure of their remuneration and the basis of therr service agreements with due regard to the interests
of shareholders In determining that remuneration the Remuneration Committee seeks to offer a
competitive remuneration structure to maintain the high calibre of its executive board The Comnuttee
belleves that mantaining the Company's business growth and profit record requires an overall
compensation policy with a strong performance-related element

The main components of the executive Directors’ remuneration are

1 Basic salary

Basic salary for each Director is determined by the Remuneration Committee taking into account the
performance of the individual and external market data The Committee’s policy 1s to review salanes

annually
2. Annual Benus

The Executive Directors are eligible for an annual bonus which 1s focused on the achievement of the
Group's short-term objectives The Remuneration Commuttee sets targets inked to the Group's stated
strategy and tallored to each Director's individua! role These nclude financial and non-financial
measures |t assesses their overall performance against those indicators and generally in determining

the level of bonus payable

3. Share options

The Company believes that share ownership by non-business owner executive Directors strengthens
the link between their personal interests and those of the shareholders in respect of shareholder value
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Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP")

The Long Term Incentive Plan was established n 2009 in which Executive Directors and senior
managers of the Company and its subsidianes are eligible to participate

Under the rules of the LTIP, participants are conditionally awarded nil cost options to acquire shares
Awards are usually made annually The number of such shares will normally be calculated by reference
to a percentage of the participant’s salary and the Company's closing share pnce on the date of the
Preliminary Announcement of the Group’s annual results The shares subject to the LTIP awards will
be released to the recipients at the end of a holding period, normally three years, subject to thesr
continued employment (with exceptions In certain circumstances) and to the Group's achievement of
certain targets for earnings per share growth and Total Shareholder Return

The total number of LTIP shares awarded conditionatly in the year ended 31 July 2011 to participants in
the Scheme was approximately 2 3 million and in the year ended 31 July 2010 was approximately 1 9
million These include conditional awards to the Executive Directors of the Company as set out below

Deferred Stock Scheme

The Deferred Stock Scheme was established in December 2010 with the am of encouraging the
retention of key employees including Executive Directors and senior managers of the Company A
participant must remain employed for a fixed penod determined by the Remuneration Committee at the
date of grant, before the shares can be 1ssued to them This period will usually be three years and the
Committee may at its discretion vary these terms or impose other conditions

Awards which vest under this scheme will pnmanly be satisfied by the allocation of shares already held
by the Company's Employee Benefit Trust A total of 1 5 million deferred share awards were made In
the year ended 31 July 2011

Directors' service contracts

The table below summanses key details in respect of each Director’s contract

Executive Directors Contract date Notice period

Stephan Shakespeare 18 Aprl 2005 12 months

Alan Newman 5 June 2009 6 months

Non-Executive Directors Date of initial Notice period
appointment

Roger Parry 6 February 2007 30 days

Peter Bazalgette 2 March 2005 30 days

Nick Jones 2 June 2009 30 days

Ben Elliot 2 August 2010 30 days

Save as set out above, there are no existing or proposed service contracts between any of the Directors
serving at 31 July 2011 and the Company or any member of the Company
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The total aggregate remuneration (including benefits in kind and pension contriputions) paid to the
Directors by all members of the Group for the year ended 31 July 2011 amounted to £793k (2010

£861k)
No Director has or has had any interest in any transaction which Is or was unusual In its nature or
conditions or which 1s or was significant n relation to the business of the Company and which was

effected by the Company either (1) dunng the current or immediately preceding financial year, or (n)
during any earlier financial year and which remains in any aspect outstanding or unperformed

Policy on Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors 1s set by the Board as a whole

Directors’ Remuneration {audited)

Directors’ remuneration in aggregate for the year ended 31 July 2011 was as follows

Salary Annual Benefits n Total Total

Name £ Bonus kind 31 July 31 July
£ £ 2011 2010
£ £

Executive Directors
Stephan Shakespeare 203,125 142,188 1,256 346,568 196,200
Alan Newman 165,788 116,083 - 281,871 145,000
Nadhim Zahaw - - - - 379,980
Non-executive Directors
Roger Parry 80,000 - - 80,000 80,000
Peter Bazalgette 30,000 - - 30,000 30,000
Nick Jones 30,000 - - 30,000 30,000
Ben Elliot 25,000 - - 25,000 -
Totals 533,913 258,271 1,255 793,439 861,180

The benefit in kind received was private health insurance

In the year ended 31 July 2010, no bonus was paid to any Director The remuneration paid to Nadhim
Zahawi included salary of £131,000 and compensation for termination of employment of £248,880
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Directors’ Share Options (audited)

The following unexercised nil cost options over shares were held by Directors under the Long Term
Incentive Scheme

Number Date of potential
Name outstanding at vesting

31 July 2011
Stephan Shakespeare 359,447 Octfober 2011
Stephan Shakespeare 384,060 October 2012
Stephan Shakespeare 426,563 October 2013
Alan Newman 267,281 Qctober 2011
Alan Newman 288,557 October 2012
Alan Newman 354,167 QOctober 2013

Deferred Stock Scheme (audited)

The following deferred shares were 1ssued to Directors dunng the year under the Deferred Stock
Scheme

Number Date of potential
Name outstanding at vesting

31 July 2011
Stephan Shakespeare 162,500 December 2013
Alan Newman 162,500 December 2013

No Drrectors exercised any share options in either of the years ended 31 July 2011 or 2010
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Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

YouGov 1s not required to comply with the Corporate Governance Code 2010 as it is isted on the AIM
Index but the Board considers that the Group should work towards comphance with it Full comphance
has not yet been achieved and the Board and Audit Committee monitor the Company's compliance on a
regular basts A copy of the Code Is publicly available at www frc org uk

The Board

At 31 July 2011, the Board consisted of two Executive Directors and four Non-Executive Directors,
including the Chairman and the senior Non-Executive Director The names of the Directors are shown

on page 12 and ther respective responsibiliies are page 27

The Board operates both formally, through Board and Committee meetings, and informally, through
regular contact amongst Directors High level decisions on such matters as strategy, financial
performance and reporting, dividends, nsk management, maor capital expenditure, acquisitions and
disposals are reserved for the Board or Board Committees For its regular formal meetings, the Board

recelves appropriate information in advance from management

The Drrectors can obtain independent professional advice at the Company's own expense n the
performance of their duties as Directors

The Board formally approves the appointment of all new Directors All Directors are required to subrmit
themselves for re-election at the first Annual General Meeting following therr appointment and
subsequent to this at the Annual General Meeting on a rotatienal basis, which ensures that each
Director 1s submitted for re-election approximately every three years Proposals to re-elect Directors
have been set out in the Notice of the Annual General Meeting

Board Committees

Remuneration Committee — The Remuneraton Committee was established at the time of
flotation The composition of the Remuneration Committee 1s shown below and the statement of the
remuneration policy developed by the Committee and details of each Director’s remuneration are given

within the Directors’ Remuneration Report set out on pages 18-21
Audit Commuttee - The composition of the Audit Committee 1s shown below The Audit Committee

operates under terms of reference agreed by the whole Board and meets with the auditors to consider
the Company’s financial reporting in advance of its publication

Board and Committee Attendance

The following table sets out the attendance of Directors at Board and Committee meetings during
2010/141
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Board Remuneration Audit Committee
Director Meetings Committee Meetings  Meetings
Maximum 8 Maximum 2 Maximum 2
Stephan Shakespeare 8 - -
Alan Newman 8 - 2 (in attendance)
Roger Parry 8 - -
Peter Bazalgette 8 2 2
Nick Jones 8 2 2
Ben Ellict 7 - -

Shareholder Communications

The Board’s assessment of the Company's position and prospects are set out In the Charman’s
Statement on pages 1 to 2 and the Chief Financial Officer's Report on pages 8-1

The Executive Directors meet regulary with institutional shareholders to discuss the Company's
performance and future prospects At these meetings the views of insttutional shareholders are
canvassed and subsequently reported back to the Board The Annual General Meeting 1s used as a

forum for communication with private shareholders

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises the two Non-Executive Directors, Nick Jones (its Chairman) and Peter
Bazalgette Nick Jones has recent relevant financial expenence

The Audit Commuttee reports to the Board on any matters in respect of which it considers that action or
improvement 1s needed, and makes recommendations as to the steps to be taken In particular the

Committee 1s responstble for

+ ensunng that the financial performance of the Group Is properly monitored and reported,
« monitonng the formal announcements relating to financial performance,

» meeting the auditors and agreeing audt strategy,

reviewing reports from the auditors and management relating to accounts and internal ¢ontrol
systems, and

making recommendations to the Board in respect of external audtor appointment and
remuneration

The effectiveness of the internal control systems 1s under constant review and a formal assessment of
internal controls has been conducted The audit committee will monitor the implementation of a series
of detalled steps to improve the control environment  Although there was no formal internal audit dunng
the year, the accounting functions were subject to perodic internal review As the business continues
to grow we keep the Group's need for an internal audit function under constant review
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Key Controls and Procedures

The Board maintains full control and direction over appropriate strategic, financial, organisational and
comphance 1ssues, and has put in place an organisational structure with defined lines of responsibility

and delegation of authonty

The annual budget and forecasts are reviewed by the Board prior to approval being gven This
includes the identfication and assessment of the business risks inherent In the Group and the media
sector as a whole along with associated financial risks

The system of internal control 1s designed to manage rather than eliminate the nsk of fallure to achieve
business objectives in addition to providing reasonable and not absolute assurance against matenal

misstatement or loss  These procedures have been in place during the financial year up to the date of
approval of the annua! report This process is regularly reviewed by the board and 18 In accordance

with the Turnbull guidance The key procedures include,

« detailed budgeting programme with an annual budget approved by the Board,

« regular review by the Board of actual results compared with budget and forecasts,

« regular reviews by the Board of year end forecasts,

o esiablishment of procedures for acquisitions, capital expenditure and expenditure incurred in
the ordinary course of business,

« detalled budgeting and monitoring of costs incurred on the development of new products,

« reporting to, and review by, the Board of changes in legisiation and practices within the sector
and accounting and legal developments pertinent to the Company,

s appointing expenenced and suitably qualified staff to take responsibility for key business
functions to ensure maintenance of high standards of performance, and

» appraisal and approval of proposed acquisitions by the Board

Auditor Independence

The Audit Commuttee also undertakes a formal assessment of the auditors’ independence each year
which includes

e confirmation of the auditors’ objectivity and independence In the provision of non-audit services
to the Company by the use of separate teams to provide such services where appropriate,

e discussion with the auditors of a written report detailing relatronships with the Company and any
other parties that could affect independence or the perception of ndependence,

e a review of the auditors’ own procedures for ensunng independence of the audit firm and
partners and staff involved n the audt, including the regular rotation of the audit partner, and
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+ obtaining written confirmation from the auditors that, in their professional judgement, they are
independent

Any analysis of the fees payable to the external audit firm In respect of both audit and non-audit
services during the year is set out In Note 2 to the accounts

Risk Management

The board reviews nisks facing the business on a regular basis The following paragraphs describe the
principal risks and uncertainties identified

Early stage of development - Although the Company has grown substantially since 1t was formed ten
years ago, It remains a relatively small company in an early stage of development The Company faces
competition from both large established international companies as well as small local businesses
operating In the same sector

Currency fluctuations — The Group 1s exposed to currency nsk as the Group operates in multiple
geographic regions This manifests itself in different forms We seek to reduce this nsk by mveoicing in
local currency thus reducing exposure in normal trading The Group 1s exposed to currency translation
nsk in the consolidation of accounting records The main reporting currencies of group subsidiaries are
Sterling, US Dollar, Euro, Danish Kroner and Arab Emirate Dirham

Projected growth - The Company's plans incorporate continued growth n the coming years This
growth will be In part dependent on the marketing and research budgets of target clients over which
YouGov has Ittle control This 1s mitigated through effective key chent relationship management and
continually reviewing order pipelines and sales targets

Competition - YouGov has developed an internet based research strategy which other large and
established research orgarisations are also beginning to adopt Some of these more established
research organisations have well developed brands and substanbal resources and may be able to use
these to compete very effectively in developing online panels and competing software This is achueved
by the use of patents and trademarks where appropriate and also by managing our Technology risk as
detailed below

Staff - The success of YouGov will be influenced by the recruitment and retention of high calibre
staff Senior staff that manage key client relationships and those with software expertise are particularly
important to the continuing development and smooth running of the Company To mitigate this nsk,
YouGov has built account and project management teams for key clients and larger research
projects In this way the client relationships and project refated knowledge are shared among a number
of individuals rather than concentrated with one person We aiso incentvise key personnel through
participation in long term incentive programmes such as the LTIP share option scheme

internationalisation — YouGov now has wide geographical spread Monitonng and reporting these
businesses performance reiies upon the aperation of key controls There 15 a nsk that these controls
may not operate effectively i each junsdiction

Acquisitions - The Directors plan to expand and develop the business through a strategy of targeted
acquisitions The nsk exists that integration of any acquired business will be unsuccessful or that key
employees or clients of the acquired business will be lost Directors will attempt to mitigate this nisk by
careful due dihgence and communication with the chents of target companies The Directors will also
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seek to communicate YouGov's strategy to staff and ensure that levels of remuneration and benefits are
appropriate to retain key employees

Technology - A strong software platform i1s essenbal for carryng out orlhne research This software
must be reviewed and updated on a regular basis to ensure that it does not become superseded by
newer technologies In other companies YouGov has sought to remain competitive in this area by
recruiting an expenenced team of software specialists with responsibiity for developing the proprietary
software systems Employees In this area must provide three months’ notice on departure and YouGov
has developed a succession planning document with sufficient detail on the structure of propnetary
software applications and the IT infrastructure to assist in an orderly transition period in the event of
staff leaving A disaster recovery plan is in place and 1s reviewed by the audit committee annually
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Directors’ responsibilities statement

The Directors are responsible for preparng the Annual Report, and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financia! statements for each financial year Under that
law the Directors have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and the parent company
financial statements In accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable faw) Under company law the Directors must not
approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that penod In
preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to

« select sutable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
make judgements and accounting estmates that are reasonable and prudent,
state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and applicable UK Accounting
Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained 1n
the Group and parent company financial statements respectively,

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless It 1s inappropnate to
presume that the Company will continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safequarding the assets of the Company and the
Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other

irregulanties
The Directors are responsible for the mamntenance and integnty of the Company's website Legislation

In the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other junsdictions

On behalf of the board

Alan New
10 October 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF YOUGOV PLC ON THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the group financial statements of YouGov plc for the year ended 31 July 2011 which
compnise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income,
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes 1n Equity, the
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Principle Accounting Policies and the related notes The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 15 apphcable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the

preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our
responsibility Is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a
body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We
do not, In giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by

our pnor consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit Involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures In the financial statements

sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In additron, we read all the financial
and non-financial iInformation 1n the Directors’ Report to identify material inconsistencies with the
audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or
Incensistencies we consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the group financial statements

« give atrue and fair view of the state of the group’s affarrs as at 31 July 2011 and of its profit and
cash flows for the year then ended,

« have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and

« have been prepared In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the group
financial statements are prepared i1s consistent with the group financial statements
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Compantes Act 2006 requires
us to report to you If, In our opinion

e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
+ we have not received all the informaticn and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of YouGov plc for the year
ended 31 July 2011

David A Snelt (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

L.ondon
10 October 2011
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Revenue

Cost of sales™
Gross profit
Operating expenses™™™

Adjusted operating profit before impairment and
amortisation of intangible assets and exceptional
costs

Impairment of goodwill and intangibles
Amortisation of intangibles

Exceptional costs

Operating profit/{loss)

Finance iIncome

Finance costs
Share of post-tax loss In joint ventures and associates

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Tax (charge)/credi
Profit/(loss) after taxation
Attributable to

Qwners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share

Basic earnings/{loss} per share attributable to owners of

the parent

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to owners of

the parent

Note 20114 2010
£'000 £000
1 66,142 44234
(13,918) (9,877)
42,224 34,357
(36,955) (30,581)
5,269 3,776
1
10,11 - (7,861)
(3,765) (3,689)
4 (1,129) (2,799)
385 {(10,573)
5 277 205
5 (219) (201)
(32) (8)
1 411 (10,577}
6 (8) 2,572
1 403 (8,005)
286 (8,499)
17 494
403 (8,005)
8 03 (88)
8 0.3 (8 8)

*All comparative information including the relevant notes has been restated to reflect a prior year

adjustment, see notes 4 and 19 for full details

» Total 2010 cost of sales ncluding change of accounting estimate of panel provision detailed in

note 4 1s £10 477m

=+ Total 2011 operating expenses including impairment of goodwill and intangibles, amortisation
and the remaining items detailed in note 4 are £41 839m (2010 £44 330m)

The profit/(loss) 1s from continuing operations The notes and accounting policies on pages 36 to 77
form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income’

Currency translation differences

Purchase of non-controling interest in subsidiary
Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

Attributable to

-Equity holders of the parent company

-Non controling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year

Note

2011 2010*
£'000 £'000
403 (8,005)
(1,237) 298
1,691 (163)
454 135
857 (7,870)
940 (8,645)
(83) 775
857 (7,.870)

The components of this period’s other comprehensive income do not have an impact on tax

*All comparative information Including the relevant notes has been restated to reflect a prior year

adjustment, see notes 4 and 19 for full details

The notes and accounting policies on pages 36 to 77 form an integral part of these consohdated

financial statements
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YOUGOV PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 July 2011

31 July 31 July
2011 2010*
Note £000 £'000
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 10 37,795 31,203
Other intangible assets 11 11,427 10,545
Property, plant and equipment 12 2,338 2,382
Investments in joint ventures and associates 13 468 23
Deferred tax assets 20 1,939 2,606
Total non-current assets 53,967 46,759
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 14 16,933 14,561
Other short term financial assets 15 - 185
Cash and cash equivalents 16 9,400 15,634
Total current assets 26,333 30,360
Total assets 80,300 77,119
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 11,602 10,146
Provisions 19 1,437 2,243
Borrowings - 4
Current tax habilities 487 164
Contingent consideration 18 2,838 304
Total current liabilities 16,364 12,861
Net current assets 9,969 17.499
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 19 1,605 1,398
Contingent consideration 18 2,826 360
Deferred tax llabilities 20 3,611 3,298
Total non-current habilities 8,042 5,056
Total habilities 24,406 17,917
Net assets 55,894 59,202
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YOUGOV PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 July 2011

31 July 31 July
Note 2011 2010"
£000 £'000

Equity
Issued share capital 22 195 194
Share premium 30,947 30,822
Merger reserve 9,239 9,239
Foreigh exchange reserve 8,760 9,797
Retained Earmings 6,658 5,151
Total shareholders’ funds 55,799 55,203
Non-controlling interests in equity 95 3,999
55,894 59,202

Total equity

*All comparative informatian including the relevant notes has been restated to reflect a pnor year
adjustment, see notes 4 and 19 for full details

The notes and accounting policies on pages 36 to 77 form an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 October 2011 and signed on
its behalf by

Alan Newman

Chief Financial Officer
YouGov plc

Registered as 03607311
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YOUGOV PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 July 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit/(loss)
Adjustments for
Impairment charge
Amortisation
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and
other intangible assets
Loss on disposal of goodwill and other investments
Share-based payments
Increase In trade and other recevables
Increase In trade and other payables
(Decrease)/Increase 1N Provisions

Cash generated from operations

Interest pad

Income taxes (paid)/recovered

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidianes (net of cash acquired)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest shareholdings
Acquisition of non-controling interest in related party
Settlement of contingent considerations

Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Proceeds from sale of interest in subsidiary

Interest receved

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Purchase of own shares

Proceeds from 1ssue of share capital
Loan repayments

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase In cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash eguivalents at beginning of year
Exchange (loss)/gain on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

*All comparative information including the relevant notes has been restated to reflect a pnor year

adjustment, see notes 4 and 18 for full detalls

The notes and accounting policies on pages 36 to 77 form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements

Note

10,11

18

12

16

2011 2010*
£7000 £'000
385 (10,573)
. 7,861
3,756 3,689
745 658
74 -
159 -
337 148
(1,855) (97)
2,626 1,262
(699) 1,903
5,627 4,851
) (201)
(639) 947
4,971 5,597
(2,973) (291)
(2,670) -
(500) -
(2,075) (304)
9 -
(574) (282)
(2,107} (2,037)
486 -
133 205
{(10,171) (2,709)
(807) -
- 5
(4) (237)
- (56)
(811) (288)
(6,011} 2,600
15,634 12,718
(223) 316
9,400 15,634
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YOUGQV PLC
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 July 2011

Nature of operations
YouGov plc and subsidianes’ (‘the Group’) principal actvity 1s the provision of market research

YouGov plc 1s the Group’s ultimate parent company It 1s incorporated and domiciled n Great
Brtain The address of YouGov pic's registered office 1s 50 Featherstone Street, London, ECYY
8RT United Kingdom YouGov plc's shares are listed on the Alternative Investment Market of the

London Stock Exchange

YouGov pic's annual consolidated financial statements are presented in UK Sterling, which is also
the functional currency of the parent company

These annual consohdated financial statements have been approved for 1ssue by the Board of
Directors on 10 October 2011

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of YouGov plc are for the year ended 31 July 2011 They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention These consolidated financial statements
have been prepared In accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU), International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) Interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to

companies reporting under IFRS

A pnor year adjustment has been made to recognise a liabihty for a put option heid by non-
controling Interest in accordance with IAS 39, as discussed In note 19 The Group has not
presented a statement of financial position as at 31 July 2009 as there has been no change to

previously reported figures

The policies set out below have been consistently applied to all years presented unless otherwise
stated

The Parent company financial statements are prepared under UK GAAP and are detaled on
pages 78 to 88

The following new standards and amendments to existing standards are now effective but have
no significant impact on the Group-

« Annual mprovements 2009 (effective 1 January 2010)
Amendment to IFRS 2, 'Share based payments — Group cash-settled share-hased
payment transactions' (effective 1 January 2010)

. Amendments to IFRS 1 for additional exemptions (effective 1 January 2010)

« Amendments 1AS 32 Financial nstruments Presentation on classification of nghts issues
(effective 1 February 2010)

+ Amendment to IFRS 1, First time adoption on financial instrument disclosures (effective 1
July 2010)

« IFRIC 15, 'Arrangements for construction of real estates’ (effective 1 January 2008 but

EU endorsed for 1 January 2010)
« IFRIC 19, 'Extinguishing financial fiabtities with equity instruments' (effective 1 July 2010}
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YOUGOV PLC
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 July 2011

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and all of its subsidiary
undertakings (see note 13) drawn up to 31 July 2011 Subsidianies are entities controlled by the
Group Control 1s achieved where the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activiles The Group obtains and exercises
control through voting nghts

All ntra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are elmmated i full on
consolidation Amounts reported In the financial statements of subsidianes have been adjusted
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group

Acquisitions of subsidianies are dealt with by the acquisition method The acquisition method
involves the recogrution at fair value of all identifiable assets and liabilibes, including contingent
Liabiliies of the subsidiary, at the acquisition date, regardless of whether or not they were
recorded 1 the financial statements of the subsidiary prior to acquisiion  On initial recogrition,
the assets and habilities of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position at therr far values, which are also used as the bases for subsequent measurement In
accordance with the Group accounting policies  Goodwill 1s stated after separating out
identifiable intangible assets Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair
value of the Group's share of the identfiable net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of
acquisition Acquisifion related costs are charged to the income statement in the penod n which
they are incurred

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions
with parties external to the Group Disposals to non-controlling interests result in gains and losses
for the Group that are recorded In the Statement of Changes in Equity Purchases of non-
controling interests are recognised directly In reserves, being the difference between any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying vaiue of net assets of the

subsidiary
Associates and joint ventures

Entities whose economic activities are controlled jointly by the Group and by other venturers
independent of the Group are accounted for using the equity method  Associates are those
entities over which the Group has significant influence (defined as the power to participate In the
financial and operating decisions of the Investee but not control or joint control over those
policies) but which are neither subsidiaries nor interests in joint ventures  The results and assets
and labilities of associates and jont ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting, under which nvestments in associates and
Investments 1n joint ventures are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or
joint venture less any imparment in the value of Individual investments The Group’s share of its
associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses 1S recognised in the income statement, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in  other comprehensive income 15 recognised In other

comprehensive income

However, when the Group's share of losses In an associate or joint venture equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate or jont venture, including any unsecured recewvables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless 1t has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
assoclate or joint venture If the associate or joint venture subsequently reports profits, the Group
resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of
losses not recognised

Unrealsed gains on transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are
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YOUGOV PLC
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 July 2011

eliminated to the extent of the Group's Interests In the associates or joint ventures Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an mpairment of the asset
transferred Amounts reported In the financial statements of associates and joint ventures have
been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting palicies adopted by

the Group
Segmental analysis

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been dentified
as the operations board that makes strategic decistons

Revenue

Revenue 1s measured by reference to the fair value of consideration received or receivable by the
Group for services provided, excluding Value Added Tax and trade discounts

Market research

Revenue anses from the provision of market research services Within this revenue stream are
syndicated and non-syndicated services

Syndicated services

Syndicated services are the consistent provision of data over a specified period of tme Revenue
15 recognised from the point in tme at which access passwords have been made available to the
customer Revenue is recognised in equal monthly instalments over the Ife of the contract

Non-syndicated services

Non-syndicated services vary In size and complexity Revenue 1S recognised on each contract in
proportion to the level of services performed by reference to the project manager's estimates and
time records against budgeted and assigned resource Revenue IS recognised on long term
contracts, if the outcome can be assessed with reasonable certainty, by including in the income
statement revenue and reiated costs as coniract activity progresses

Non-cash transactions

The Group enters into contracts for the provision of market research services in exchange for
advertising rather than for cash or other consideration When barter transactions are agreed the
value of the work provided to the counterparty 1s equal In vatue to that which would be provided In
an ordinary cash transaction As required by IAS 18 the value of advertising recevable n all
significant barter transactions 1s ensured to be reliably measurable by referencing to the
counterparty's rate card

Provisions

Provisions are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when a Group
company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 1s probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation The amount recognised as a
provision IS the best estmate of the expenditure required to settle the present cbligation at the
reporting date
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 July 2011

If the effect 1s matenal, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the tme value of money and, where
appropnate, the risks specific to the liability

Staff gratuity costs

The staff gratuity provision 1s a statutory obligation under UAE labour law, whereby each
employee on termination of their contract 1s due a payment dependent upon thewr number of
years service and nature of the termination The lability 1s weighted against histoncal rates of

resignation and redundancy
Panel incentive costs

The Group mnvites consumer panel members to fill out surveys for a cash or points-based
incentive  Although these amounts are not paid untl a predetermined target value has accrued
on a panelist’s account, an assessment of Incentives likely to be paid (present obligation) is made
taking into account past panelist behaviour and 1s recognised as a cost of sale in the period in
which the service is provided This assessment takes into account the expected savings from the
lottery offered in various terntones

Interest

The Group recewves Interest income for cash funds that are held on short term nstant access
deposit Where interest receipts are recewed after the balance sheet date the interest due 1s
accrued for the requisite penod at the prevailing rate on the deposit

Interest 1s recognised using the effective interest method which calculates the amortised cost of a
financial habsity and allocates the interest income over the relevant penod The effective interest
rate 1s the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected Iife of
the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset

Exceptional items

Items are highlighted as exceptional in the consolidated Income statement when they are matenal
in their nature or amount and when separate disclosure Is considered helpfu! in understanding the
underlying performance of the business Examples include acquisition costs, restructuring costs
and any other costs that are not incurred as part of normal operating actvities

Taxation
Current tax 1s the tax currently payable/recoverable based on taxable profit/loss for the year

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the labiity method on temporary differences
Deferred tax 1s generally provided on the difference between the carrymg amounts of assets and
labilities and therr tax bases However, deferred tax 1s not prowided on the initial recognition of
goodwill, nor on the initial recogrution of an asset or hability unless the related transaction is a
business combination or affects tax or accounting profit Deferred tax on temporary differences
associated with shares i subsidianes and joint ventures 1s not provided If reversal of these
temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and It 15 probable that reversal will not
occur In the foreseeable future In addition, tax losses available to be carmed forward as well as
other income tax credits to the Group are assessed for recognition as deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets and liabiities are provided in full, with no discounting Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that the underlying deductible temporary
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differences will be able to be offset against future taxable income Current and deferred tax
assets and llabiities are calculated at tax rates that are expected to apply to their respective
period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date

Deferred tax assets and liabilittes are offset when there i1s a legally enforceable nght to set off
current tax assets aganst current tax labilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and habilities on a

net basis

Changes In deferred tax assets or habilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in the
consolidated iIncome statement, except where they relate to items that are charged or credited
directly to equity In which case the related deferred tax 1s also charged or credited directly to

equity

Dwidends

Dividends are recogrised when the shareholders’ right to receive payment 1s established
Goodwill

Goodwill representing the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group's
share of the identifiable net assets acquired s capitalised and reviewed annually for impairment
Goodwill 15 carned at cost less accumulated impairment losses If the Group's interest In the net

fair value of the identifiable assets, liabiities, contingent labilities of the acquired entity exceeds
the cost of the business combination, this value 1s recognised immedately in the consolidated

income statement

Goodwill written off to reserves prior to the date of transition to IFRS remains in reserves There
15 no re-Instatement of goodwill that was amortised prior to transiion to IFRS  Goodwill
previously written off to reserves is not written back to profit or loss on subsequent disposal

On disposal of a business, goodwill 1s allocated based on calculated fair value of assets disposed
and included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal

Intangible assets
Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance

Intangible assets are vaiued at either therr directly attributable costs or using valuation methods
such as discounted cash flows and replacement cost n the case of acquired intangible assets

The Directors estimate the useful economic hfe of each asset and use these estimates in applying
amortisation rates The Directors periodically review economic useful life estimates

Intangible assets are stated at cost net of amortisation and any provision for impairment
Directors conduct an annual impawrment review of intangible assets where necessary for assets
with an indefinite ife Where impairment arses, losses are recognised In the consolidated

income statement

Amortisation of intangible assets is shown on the face of the consolidated income statement
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Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination

In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, an intangible asset acquired in a business
combination 1s deemed to have a cost to the Group of its farr value at the acquisition date The
farr value of the intangible asset reflects market expectations about the probabitity that the future
economic benefits embodied in the asset will flow to the Group Where an iIntangible asset mght
be separable, but only together with a related tangible or intangible asset, the Group of assets Is
recognised as a single asset separately from goodwiil where the individual faw values of the
assets In the Group are not reliably measurable Where the individual far value of the
complementary assets Is reliably measurable, the Group recognises them as a single asset
provided the individual assets have simidar useful ives Intangible assets acquired as part of a
business combination are typically amortised using the straight ine method over the following
penods

Intangible asset Amortisation period

Consumer panel 5 years
Software and software development 5 years
Customer contracts and lists 10- 11 years

Patents and trademarks 5-15 years
Order backlog 3 months - 1 year

intangible assets generated internally

Internally generated intangible assets are only capitalised where they meet all of the following
cntenia stipulated by IAS 38

s Completion of the intangible asset 1 technically feasible so that it will be availabie for use

or sale

s The Group intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it

« The Group has the ability to use or sell the intangible asset

« The intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits Among other
things, this requires that there 1s a market for the output from the intangible asset or for
the intangible asset itself, or, if it 1s to be used internally, the asset will be used In

generating such benefits
« There are adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development

and to use or sell the intangible asset
« The expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during Its development can be

measured reliably

Internally generated intangible assets are capitalised at their directly attributable cost
Development costs not meeting the criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred

Internally generated intangible assets are amortised from the moment at which they become
available for use

Amortisation rates applicable to internally generated intangible assets are typically

Intangible asset Amortisation period

Software and software development 3 years

Patents and trademarks not amortised
Development costs project by project basis
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Consumer panel
The consumer panel 1s the core asset from which our online revenues are generated

Where a consumer panel or list 15 acquired as part of a business combination the cost of the
asset 1s recognised at its fair value to the Group at the date of acquistion The fair value 1s
calculated by management using a discounted cash flow model Amortisation 1s charged to wnte
off the panel acquisition costs over a five year peniod, this being the Drectors’ estimate of the
average active life of a panellist

Consumer panel costs reflect the direct cost of recruiting new panel members Only third party
costs are considered for capitalisation Consumer panel costs are split between enhancement
and mantenance of the asset Enhancement costs are capitalised whilst maintenance costs are
expensed The spit I1s based on management estimates denved from current levels of panel
churn  Amortisation 1s charged to write off the panel acquisition costs over a three year period,
this being the Directors’ estimate of the average active hfe of a paneilist

Software and software development

Capitalised software includes our survey and panel management software and our Brandindex
platform which are key tools of our business Software and software development also includes
purchased off-the-shelf software

Where software Is acquired as part of a business combination the cost of the asset 1S recognised
at nts farr value to the Group at the date of acquistion The far value 1s calculated by
management using a discounted cash flow model Amortisation 1s charged to write off the
software over a five year penod, this being the Directors’ estimate of the useful iife of the

software

Where software Is developed internally, directly attributable costs including employee costs are
captalised as software development Amortisation commences upon completion of the asset
Amortisation 1s charged to write off the software over a three year period, this being the Directors’
estimate of the useful ife of software

Customer contract and lists

Where a customer contract or list 1s acquired as part of a business combination the cost of the
asset 1s recognised at its far value to the Group at the date of acquisition The fair value 15
calculated by management using a discounted cash flow mode! Customer contracts and lists are
amortised over a useful economic life based on Directors’ estimates

Patents and trademarks

Where a patent or trademark s acquired as part of a business combination the cost of the asset
1s recogrused at its fair value to the Group at the date of acquisition The fair value 1s calculated
by management using a discounted cash flow model

Patents acquired as part of a business combination are amortised over a useful economic hife
based on Directors’ estimates

Patents and trademarks acquired on an ongoing basis to protect the YouGov brand and its
products are included at cost and are not amortised, as the trademarks are indefinite in ther
longewity through legal nghts The patents and trademarks are subject to an annual mparment
review
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Development costs

Expenditure on research (or the research phase of an internal project) 1s recognised as an
expense In the period in which it 1s incurred

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly attnbutable costs
necessary to create, produce, and prepare the asset to be capable of operating In the manner

intended by management
Impairment testing of goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

For the purposes of assessing imparment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identffiable cash flows (cash-generating units) As a result, some assets are
tested (ndividually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level Goodwillis
allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related
business combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which management

monirtors the related cash flows

Goodwlll, other individua! assets or cash-generating units that include goodwill, other intangible
assets with an indefinite useful life, and those intangible assets not yet avallable for use are
tested for impairment at least annually  All other individual assets or cash-generating units are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes In circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable

An impairment loss I1s recognised for the amount by which the asset's or cash-generating unit's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount The recoverable amount 1s calculated as value
in use based on an interal discounted cash flow evaluation

Imparment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated,
are credited inibally to the carrying amount of goodwill  Any remaining impairment loss I1s charged
pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit With the exception of goodwill, all assets
are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may

no longer exist

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment i1s carned at cost net of depreciation and any provision for
imparment Cost includes the onginal purchase price of the asset and the costs atinbutable to
bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use No depreciation IS charged during
the penod of construction Leasehold property 1s included in property, plant and equipment only
where 1t 1s held under a finance lease Borrowing costs on property, plant and equipment under
construction are capitalised dunng the penod of construction based on specific funds borrowed
Depreciation 1s calculated to write down the cost less estimated residuat value of all property,
plant and machinery over ther estmated useful economic lives

Asset Depreciation rate

Freehold property Straight line over 25 years
Leasehold property improvements Stranght ine over the hife of the lease
Fixtures and fithings 25% on a reducing balance
Computer equipment 33% per annum straight line

Mator vehicles 25% or the ife of the lease
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The residual values and usefui lives of all assets are reviewed at least at the end of each
reporting period

Leased assets

In accordance with |AS 17, the economic ownership of a leased asset 1S transferred to the lessee
f the lessee bears substantially all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased
asset The related asset I1s recognised at the ime of inception of the lease at the fair vaiue of the
leased asset or, f lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments plus incidental
payments, If any, to be borne by the lessee A corresponding amount is recognised as a finance

leasing hability

The interest element of leasing payments represents a constant proportion of the capital balance
outstanding and I1s charged to the income statement over the penad of the lease

All other leases are regarded as operating leases and the payments made under them are
charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term Lease incentives
are spread over the term of the lease

Financial assets

Financial assets are divided Into the following categories loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial assets Financial assets are assigned to the different categories by
management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which they were acquired

All financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument

Trade recevables are recognised imitially at farr value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment A provision for impairment
of trade recevables 1s established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the onginal terms of the receivables Significant
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are
considered indicators that the trade receivable 1s impaired The amount of the provision IS the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate The carrying amount of the asset I1s
reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss 1s recognised in the
consolidated income statement within operating expenses When a ftrade receivable s
uncollectible, it 1s written off against the aliowance account for trade recewvables Subsequent
recovenes of amounts previously written off are credited agamnst operating expenses in the
consolidated income statement

Loans and receivables are non-denvative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted In an active market Trade receivables and other financial assets are
classified as loans and recewvables Loans and receivables are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment
Any change in therr value through imparment or reversal of impaiment 1s recogrised n the
consolidated income statement

Provision against trade receivables 1s made when there 1S objective evidence that the Group will
not be able to collect all amounts due to it in accordance with the ongmnal terms of those
receivables The amount of the wnte-down 1s determined as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
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An assessment for impairment 1s undertaken at least at each reporting date

A financial asset I1s derecognised only where the contractual nghts to the cash flows from the
asset expire or the financial asset Is transferred and that transfer qualifies for derecognition A
financial asset 1s transferred if the contractual nghts to receive the cash flows of the asset have
been transferred or the Group retains the contractual nights to receve the cash flows of the asset
but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to one or more recipients A financial
asset that 1s transferred qualifies for derecognition if the Group transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset, or If the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards if ownership but does transfer control of that asset

Financial habilities

Financial llablities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method Financial
labilibes are assigned to the different categories by management on initial recognition, depending
on the purpose for which they were acquired

Financial habilihes are obligations to pay cash or other financial assets and are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument

Trade and other payables are stated at therr nominal value

Borrowings and !ease liabilities are recorded at the proceeds received, net of any 1ssue costs
Finance charges are accounted for on an effective interest method and are added to the carrying
value of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the penod 1n which they arise

A financial liability 1s derecognised only when the obligation 18 extinguished, that I1s, when the
obligation I1s discharged or cancelled or expires

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other
short-term, highly iquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant nisk of changes in value, with matunties no longer than three
months  In addition, bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand are included for the
purposes of the statement of cash flows

Equity
Equity comprises the following

. Share capital represents the nominal value of equity shares

. Share premium represents the excess over nominal value of the far value of consideration
recewved for equity shares, net of expenses of the share 1ssue

. Merger reserve represents the excess over nominai vatue of the far value of consideration
received for equity shares issued/allotted directly to acquire ancther entity meeting the
specific requirements of section 131 of the Companies Act 20068 The conditions of the
relief include
« Secunng at least 90% of the nomunal value of equity of another company
« The arrangement provides for allotment of equity shares n the 1Issuing company

. Foreign exchange reserve represents the differences ansing from translation of
investments in overseas subsidiaries

. Retained earnings represent retained profits
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Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entiies are measured using the
currency of the pnmary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional
currency’) The consolidated financial statements are presented in GBP, which 1s the Cempany’s

functional and the Group's presentation currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction

Monetary assets and habilities 1n foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling
at the reporting date Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction Non-monetary items
that are measured at farr value 1n a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined

Any exchange differences ansing on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary
ttems at rates different from those at which they were nibally recorded are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which they arise

Exchange differences on non-monetary items are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income to the extent that they relate to a gain or loss on that non-monetary tem
taken to the statement of changes in equity, otherwise such gans and losses are recognised In
the consolidated income statement

The assets and habilities in the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and associates and
related goodwll are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date Income and
expenses are translated at the aclual rate The exchange differences ansing from the
retranslation of the opening net investment in subsidiarnes and joint ventures are taken directly to
the "Foreign exchange reserve” In equity

Employee benefits
Equity settled share-based payment

This farr value 1s appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of non-market vesting
conditions

All equity-settled share-based payments are ultmately recogrised as an expense In the
consohdated ncome statement with a corresponding credit to retained earnings

If vesting periods or other non-market vesting conditions apply, the expense Is allocated over the
vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share options expected to
vest Estimates are subsequently revised If there 1s any indication that the number of share
options expected to vest differs from previous estimates

No adjustment 1s made to any expense recognised In prior periods If share options ultimately
exercised are different to that estimated on vesting

Upon exercise of share options the proceeds received net of attnbutable transaction costs are
credited to share capital, and where appropriate share premium

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the empleoyees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group 1s treated as a capital contribution The fair value of employee services
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received, measured by reference to the grant date far value, 1s recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to

equity

Contingent consideration

Future anticipated payments to vendors in respect of earn outs are based on the Directors’ best
estimates of fuiure obligations, which are dependent on the future performance of the interests
acquired and assume the operating companies Improve profits in lne with Directors’ estimates
When consideration payable 1s deferred, the far value of the consideration Is obtained by
discounting to present value the amounts expected to be payable in the fulure at a rate equivalent
to a UK ten year treasury gilt (or foreign equivalent), this beng, In the Drrector's opinion the most
appropriate barometer for a risk-free rate

Imputed interest

When the outflow of cash or cash equivalents 15 deferred, and the arrangement constitutes a
financing transaction, the fair value of the consideration 1s the present value of all future payments
determined using an imputed rate of interest The imputed rate of interest used 1s the weighted
average cost of capita!, this being, in the Director's opinion the most appropriate barometer for
underlying sk The difference between the present value of all future payments and the nominal
amount of the consideration 1s recognised as an interest charge Imputed interest 1s shown within
finance costs in the consolidated income statement

Accounting estimates and judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies the Directors are required to make
estimates and adjustments that may affect the financial statements The Directors believe that the
estimates and judgements apphied In the financial statements are reasonable

Estmates and judgements are evaluated on a regular basis and are based on historcal
experence (where applicable) and other factors, such as expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

The Group makes estmates and assumptions concerning the future These estmates, by
definition, will rarely equal the related actual results The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant nsk of causing a matenial aqjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below Where estimates and judgements have been
made, the key factors taken into consideration are disclosed in the approprate note In these
consolidated financial statements

Revenue recognition

The Group Is required to make an estimate of project completion levels on long term
contracts for revenue recogniion purposes This is based upon the project manager's
estimates and available time records against budgeted and assigned resource for the
imiial project scope This involves an element of judgement, and therefore differences
may anse between the actual and estimated result Where differences do anse, they are
recogrused In the consolidated income statement for the following reporting penod

Share-based payments

The Group 1$ required to make estimates regarding the assumptions that are used to
calculate the income statement charge for share-based payments Inputs to the
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calculations include (but are not imited to) expected volatility, expected life, nsk-free rate,
expected dividend yield and redemption rates Varnances in any of the inputs could lead to
the charge being higher or lower than appropnate

Income taxes

The Group 1s subject to Income taxes In various |ursdictions Judgement 1s required in
determining the worldwide provision for income  taxes There are many
transactions/calculations for which the ultimate tax determination 1s uncertain dunng the
ordinary course of business Where the final tax outcome 1s different to what 15 initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions Income
taxes are disclosed fully in note 6

Goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any smpairment, in accordance
with the accounting policy The recoverable amount 1S based on value in use
calculations The use of this method requires the estimation of future cash flows and the
choice of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present values of these cash
flows The estimates used in the smparment review are fully disclosed in note 10

IFRS 3 (revised 2010), 'Business combinahons' was adopted and applied prospectively
by the Group in 2011 The revised standard continues to apply the acquistion methed to
business combinations, with some significant changes For example, all payments to
purchase a business are recorded at far value at the acquisition date, with contingent
payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured through the consolidated income
statement There 1s a choice on an acquisiion-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-
controlling nterest n the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling snterest's
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets All acquisition-related costs are
expensed

Other intangible assets

The Group s required to identify and assess the useful ife of intangible assets and
determine if there 1s a finite or indefinite ife  Judgement 1s required in determining If an
intangible asset has a firute life and the extent of this finite life n order to calculate the
amortisation charge on the asset The Group tests at each reporting date whether
intangible assets have suffered any indicators of impairment, in accordance with the
accounting policy  The recoverable amount of cash-generating units has been
determined based on discounted future cash flows These calculations require estimates
to be made Where there 1s no method of valuation for an intangible asset, management
will make use of a valuation technique to determine the value of an intangible if there 1s
no evidence of a market value In doing so certain assumptions and estimates will be
made Intangible assets are fully disclosed in note 11

Panel incentive provision

The Group 1s required to assess the hkelihood that panel incentives earned by consumer
panel members will be redeemed and maintain a provision to cover this potential hability
Factors taken into consideration include the absolute lability, redemption rates and panel
activity rates Whiist histoncal data can indicate trends and behaviours #t 13 not an
indication of the future In arrving at the carrying value of the provision certain
assumptions and estmates have to be made The estimates used n caicuiating the panel
incentive provision are fully disclosed in note 19
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Deferred taxation

Judgement 1s required by management In determining whether the Group should
recognise a deferred tax asset Management consider whether there s sufficient
certainty that its tax losses available to carry forward will ultmately be offset against
future earnings This judgement impacts on the degree to which deferred tax assets are
recognised Deferred taxation is disclosed fully in note 20

Contingent consideration

As part of the acquistions, contingent consideration is payable to selling shareholders
pased on the future performance of the businesses Judgement 1S required in estmating
the magnitude of contingent consideraton and the likelihood of payment Contingent
consideration is disclosed fully in note 18

Standard and interpretations in 1ssue but not yet effective

The following new standards and amendments to existing standards are not yet effective

« JAS 34, 'Intenm financial reporting’, has been amended by the 2010
Improvements to require the following disclosures In interm  financial
reports In respect of financial instruments, If they are significant Impairments
recognised on financial assets and the reversal of previous
impairments, Changes in the business or economic circumstances that affect the
fair value of the entity's  financial assets and financial
liabilities, whether those assets or liabilitles are recognised at far value or
amortised  cost, Transfers between levels of the far value
hierarchy used in measunng the fair value of financial instruments, Changes In
the classficaton of financial assets as a result of a change In
the purpose or use of those assets The disclosures apply for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011

e IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, 1ssued \n December 2009 This addresses the
classification and measurement of financial assets and 1s likely to
affect the Group’s accounting for its financial assets The standard 1s not
applicable until 1 January 2013 but 1s available for early adoption

« Revised |AS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’, 1ssued In November 2009 It
supersedes |AS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’, I1ssued in 2003 The
revised IAS 24 is required to be applied from 1 January 2011 Earlier application,
in whole or n part, I1s permitted

» 'Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement (Amendments to IFRIC 14),
issued n November 2009 The amendments correct an
unintended consequence of IFRIC 14, |IAS 19 = The limit on a defined benefit
asset, minimum funding requirements and therr interaction’
Without the amendments, entiies are not permitted to recognise as an asset
some voluntary prepayments for minimum funding
contributions The amendments are effective for annual penods beginning 1 July
2011 Earlier application 1s permitted

The Group Is currently assessing the impact of the standards on its results, financial position and cash
flows The Group continues to monitor the potential impact of other new standards and interpretations
which may be endorsed by the European Union and require adoption by the Group in future

accounting periods
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1 REVENUE AND PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Segmental Analysis

For internal reporting purposes the Group i1s organised into five operating divisions based on geographic
lines — UK, Middle East and North Africa, Germany, Scandmawvia and North America These divisions are
the basis on which the Group reports its segmental information The Group only undertakes one class of

business, that of market research

Middle Scandin-
East and Germany avia and Consolidation
North and Central Northem North and Consold
UK Africa Europe Europe Amernca unallocated -ated
2011 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Revenue
External sales 13,348 7,423 11,348 8,213 15,810 - 56,142
Inter-segment sales 342 111 - 75 100 (628} -
Total revenue 13,690 7,534 11,348 8,288 15,910 ~ (628) 56,142

Inter-segment sales are priced on an arm's length basis that would be available to unrelated third parties

Segment resuit
Gross profit
Adjusted operating
profit 3,458 1,891 281 625
Amortisation of
intangibles
Exceptional costs (421)
Finance mcome

Finance costs

Share of results of

joint ventures and

associates

Profit before

taxation

Tax charge

Profit after taxation

10,343 4,983 8,504 6,453

{218) (114) {121) (111)
- 303 -

Other segment

mformation

Depreciation 111
Share-based

payments - - -

173 175 36

Assets

Segment assets 8,880 9,276
Investments in joint

ventures and

associates

Total assets

16,240 14,198

11,737 104 42,224
1,806 (2,892) 5,269
(652) (2,539)  (3.755)
(74) 937)  (1,129)
277
(219)
(32)
411
8
403
50 200 745
104 233 337
35,630 (4,402) 79,832
468
80,300
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Middie Scandin-
East and Germany  avia and Consolidation
North and Central Northern North and Consolid

UK Africa Europe Europe America unallocated -ated
2010 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Revenue
External sales 11,681 7,210 13,687 6,953 4,703 - 44,234
Inter-segment sales 458 10 a2 30 115 {705) -
Total revenue 12,139 7,220 13,779 6,983 4.818 (705) 44,234

Inter-segment sales are priced on an arm’s length basis that would be avatlable to unrelated third parties

Segment result
Gross profit
Adjusted operating
profit

Amortisation of
intangibles
Impairment of
goodwill and
intangible assets
Exceptional costs”
Finance income
Finance costs
Share of results of
Joint ventures and
associates

Loss before taxation
Tax credt

Loss after taxation
Other segment
information
Depreciation
Share-based
payments 23 - -
Assets

Segment assets
Investments in joint
ventures and
associates

Total assets

10,616

8,633 4,632

418

3,359 1,429

(175)

(523) (185)

{1,038) {155) (169)

197 143 241

18,418

17,481 17,843

5271
52

(108)

(360)

30

12,671

4,180
527

{150)

(112)

47
125

19,996

25 34,357

(2,009) 3,776

(2,548)  (3,689)

(7,881)
(2,799)
205
(201)

(965)

8
(10,577)
2,572

__ (8.005)
- 658
- 148

(8,313) 77,096

23
77,119

*All comparative information including the relevant notes has been restated to reflect a prior year

adjustment see notes 4 and 19 for full details
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Differences between the origin and destination of revenue are matenal to the Group Revenue by
destination 1s presented below

Middle Scandin-
East and Germany  aviaand Consolidation
North and Central Northern North and Consold
UK Africa Europe Europe America unallocated -ated

2011 £°000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Revenue by

destination

External sales 16,418 3,178 12,171 8224 16,151 - 56,142
inter-segment sales 517 422 333 154 137 (1,563} -
Total revenue 16,935 3,600 12,504 8,378 16,288 {1,563) 56,142

Inter-segment sales are priced on an arm’s length basis that would be available to unrelated third

parties
Middle Scandin-
East and Germany  aviaand Consolidation
North and Central Northern North and Consohd
UK Africa Europe Europe America unallocated -ated

2010 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Revenue by
destination
External sales 15,498 2,282 14,470 7,065 4919 - 44,234
Inter-segment sales 210 407 74 - 14 {705) -
Total revenue 15,708 2,689 14,544 7,065 4,933 (705) 44,234

inter-segment sales are priced on an arm'’s length basis that would be avallable to unrelated third parties

52




YOUGOV PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 July 2011

2 OPERATING EXPENDITURE

31 July 31 July
2011 2010
£'000 £'000
The profit/(loss) before taxation is stated after charging
Auditors’ remuneration
Audit of the Group’s annual report and accounts 144 121
Audit of subsidianes 38 41
Other assurance services 28 2
Taxation 93 14
Due diligence - 120
Other advisory services - 9
Disposals, depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 745 658
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,755 3,689
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets {31) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment {43) -
Loss on disposal of goodwill and other investments (159) -
Other operating lease rentals:
Plant and machinery 105 119
Land and builldings 1,458 1,435
Other expenses
Exchange differences 261 {348)
Share-based payment expenses 337 148
Charitable donations 46 1
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3 STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

Staff costs {(iIncluding Directors) charged to operating expenses during the year were as follows

31 July 31 July

2011 2010

£'000 £'000

Wages and salanes 22,900 18,693
Social secunty costs 2,322 2,323
Share-based payments 337 148
Pensicn costs 259 329
Cther benefits 1,672 1,269
Acquisition cost deemed as staff compensation® 348 -
27,738 22,762

Pension costs anse only in our Scandinavian business Contributions are made on behalf of employees to
defined contribution schemes at statutory rates for the respective country

* Part of the acquisition cost relating to Definitive Insights 1s deemed as staff compensation and treated as
an exceptional cost, as disclosed in note 4, rather than charged to adminsstration expenses

The average number of employees of the Group during the year was as follows

31 July 31 July

2011 2010

Number Number

Key management personnel 28 23
Administration and operations 448 397
476 420

Specific disclosures in relation to compensation for key management personnel (defined as entity
Directors and/or Chief Executive Officers) who held office during the year was as follows

31 July 31 July

2011 2010

£'000 £°000

Short-term employee benefits 2,959 2,700
Post-employment benefits 71 44
Share-based payments 266 5
Acquisition cost deemed as staff compensation 348 -
3,644 2,749

Disclosure of Directors’ remuneration including share options are included in the Remuneration Report
on pages 18 — 21
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4  EXCEPTIONAL COSTS

31 July 31 July
2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Restructuring costs 338 683
Acquisition costs 544 271
Investment write offs 168 -
Loss on disposal of subsidiary 200 -
Provision for YouGov Stone put option (121) 965
Change In accounting estimation — panel Incentives provision - 600
Employment termination - 280
1,129 2,799

Restructuning costs arose due to the termination of operations of certain divisions within the German

business

Acquisition costs compnise professional fees incurred relating to the acquisition of Harnson Group and
Definiive Insights, which were completed during the year ended 31 July 2011 IFRS 3 (revised)
requires these to be expensed at the time that they are incurred This includes £348k of contingent

consideration, deemed under IFRS 3, to be staff compensation costs

A number of Investments n jont ventures were written off during the year, as they no longer traded or

the Group no longer had an equity nterest in them

On 30 December 2010, YouGov disposed, through a management buy-out, of Great Place to Work
Deutschland GmbH, a wholly owned subsidiary of YouGovPsychonomics AG The net sale
consideration for the shares in GPW Germany was approximately £530k payable in cash At the date
of disposal, GPW’s net assets were £30k Management have apportioned £700k of the goodwiil
pertaining to the acquisition of the psychonomics group in 2007 to GPW As such a loss of £200k has

been recognised within exceptional stems line of the income statement to reflect this disposal

“According to the terms of the shareholders’ agreement for YouGovStone Limited, Carole Stone was
entitled to require YouGov plc to purchase some or all of her shareholding of the 49 'B’ class shares
The results for 2010 have been restated to reflect a provision for this option whose value as at 31 July
2010 was estimated to be £965k During the year ended 31 July 2011, an agreement was reached for

the purchase of the “B” shares which resulted In a credit being taken in the current financial year

5 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS
31 July 31 July
2011 2010
£000 £'000
Interest recervable from bank deposits 11 148
Other interest receivable 22 88
Foreign exchange gainsf/(losses) on cash held in foreign currency
denominated accounts 144 (31)
Total finance income 277 205
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 14 32
Interest on obligations under hire purchase and finance leases 3 2
Foreign exchange losses on intra-group loan positions - 119
17 153
Imputed interest on contingent consideration 202 48
Total finance costs 219 201
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6 INCOME TAXES

The taxation charge represents

31 July 31 July
2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Current tax 297 199
Adjustments in respect of prior years {58) {10)
Total current tax charge 239 189
Deferred tax
Current year (231) (3.270)
Adjustments In respect of pnor years - 509
Total deferred tax credit {231) (2,761)
8 (2,572)

Total iIncome statement tax charge/(credit)

The tax assessed for the year 1s lower (2010 lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK

The differences are explained below

31 July 31 July
2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Profit /{loss) before tax 411 (10,577)
Tax (charge)/credit calculated at Group's standard rate of
27 3% (2010 28%) (112) 2,962
Variance in overseas tax 354 501
Impact of tax rate change in current year (62) (67)
Expenses not deduchble for tax purposes (247) (643)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was
recogmzed - {192)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 58 10
Share of tax loss of joint ventures and associates 1 1
Total income statement tax {charge)credit for the year (8) 2,572

In addition to the changes n rates of Corporation tax disclosed above a number of further changes to the
UK Corporation tax system were announced in the March 2011 UK Budget Statement Legslation to
reduce the main rate of corporation tax from 26% to 25% from 1 Apnl 2012 1s expected to be included in
the Finance Act 2011 Further reductions to the main rate are proposed to reduce the rate by 1% per
annum to 23% by 1 April 2014 These further changes had not been substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date and, therefore, are not included in these financial statements

The effect of the expected reduction of 1% In the corporation tax rate from 1 April 2012 to be enacted In
the Finance Act 2011 would be to reduce the deferred tax asset provided at the balance sheet date by
£68k and the llabiity by £6k The net effect would be a £68k decrease n the deferred tax asset, a £6k
reduction in the liability and a net decrease 1n profit and other comprehensive income of £62k
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The proposed reductions of the main rate of corporation tax by 1% per year to 23% by 1 Apnl 2014 are
expected to be enacted separately each year The overall effect of the further changes from 25% to 23%,
if these were applied to the deferred tax asset at the balance sheet date, the effect would be to reduce
the deferred tax asset by £136k (being £68k recognised 1n 2013 and £68k recognised In 2014) [f these
were applied to the deferred tax hability at the balance sheet date, would be to reduce the deferred tax

liability by £12k (being £6k recognised in 2013 and £6k recogrused 1n 2014}
7 DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year (2010 £nit)

8 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share 15 based on the earnings attnbutable to ordinary
shareholders divided by the weighted average number of shares in 1ssue during the year Shares held
in employee share trusts are treated as cancelled for the purposes of this calculation

The calculation of diluted eamings per share 1s based on the basic earnings per share, adjusted to
allow for the i1ssue of shares and the post-tax effect of dividends and/or interest, on the assumed

conversion of all dilutive options and other dilutive potential ordinary shares

The adjusted earnings per share has been calculated to reflect the underlying profitability of the
business by excluding the amortisation of intangible assets, share-based payments, imputed interest,
impairment charges, exceptional items and any related tax effects

31 July 2011 31 July 2010*
£'000 £000

Group profit/{loss) after taxation attributable to
equity holders of the parent company 286 (8,499)
Add amortisation of intangible assets 3,765 3,689
Add share-based payments 337 148
Add imputed interest 202 43
Add impairment charge - 7,861
Add exceptional costs 1,129 2,799
Tax effect of the above adjustments {1,250) (3,624)
Adjusted profit after taxation 4,459 2,422

*All comparative information including the relevant notes has been restated to reflect a pnor year
adjustment, see notes 4 and 19 for full details
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Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are
set out below

31 July 2011 31 July 2010
Number of shares
Weighted average number of shares dunng the penod
{'000 shares)
- Basic 95,114 96,777
- Dilutive effect of share options 3,319 -
- Diluted 98,433 96,777
The adjustments have the following effect
Basic profit/{loss} per share (in pence) 0.3 (8 8)
Amortisation of intangible assets (in pence) 40 38
Share-based payments (in pence) 03 02
Imputed snterest (in pence) 02 00
Exceptional costs and impairments (in pence) 1.2 10
Tax effect of the above adjustments {in pence) (1.3) (37)
Adjusted earnings per share (in pence) 47 25
Diluted profit/{loss) per share {in pence} 0.3 (88)
Amorbisation of intangible assets (in pence) 38 3g
Share-based payments (In pence) 0.3 02
Imputed interest (1n pence) 0.2 00
Exceptional costs and impairment (in pence) 12 10
Tax effect of the above adjustments (in pence) (1.3) (37)
25

Adjusted diluted earnings per share {In pence) 4.5

9 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND DISPOSALS

a) Acquisition of Harrisop Group

The acquisiion of Harnson Group, one of the USA’s leading market and strategic research firms was
completed on 16 August 2010 The basic purchase consideration payable 1s six times the EBITDA
achieved by Harnson in the year ended 31 December 2010 of $2 4m (E1 5m) amounting to $14 3m
(£9 1m) $6 Om (£3 8m) of this was paid on completion and a further $3 Om (€1 8m) was paid 1n Apnl
2011 The remaining balance will be payable in instaiments n 2012 and 2013, contingent upon the results
achieved In the 2010 and 2011 calendar years An additional payment of up to $1 2m (£0 8m), which 1s
currently anticipated to be $0 8m (£0 5m), will be payable in 2013 contingent upon EBITDA growth
targets being achieved in the calendar years 2011 and 2012

The instalments due between 2011 and 2013 {including the incentive payment) have been discounted to
a net present value of $8 6m (£5 5m) resulting in a finance charge of $0 5m (£0 3m) taken to the income

statement over the earn-out period

Professional fees of £0 4m have been incurred to date refating to the Hamson acquisition In accordance
with IFRS 3 (revised) all professional fees have been expensed In the perod that they have been
ncurred  £0 3m was recognised in financial year 2009/10 and £0 1m in the year ended 31 July 2011
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The amount recogrised for each class of Harnson's assets recognised at the acquisition date are as
follows

Net assets acquired

Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before Fair value
combination adjustments Fair value
£'000 £'000 £'000
Net assets at completion date
Cash 1,413 - 1,413
Tangible and intangible fixed assets 345 - 345
Net working capital (157) - (157)
Intangible assets
Trademarks and patents - 710 710
Customer relationships - 2,232 2,232
Order Backlog - 82 82
Deferred tax labihfy - _{1,270) {1,270)
Net assets 1,601 1,754 3,355
- 5,960
Total consideration 9,315
Total Consideration analysed as * £'000
Cash 3,811
Contingent consideration 5,504
9,315

Total consideration

Ownership and control passed to YouGov on 16 August 2010 and Hamson has been consolidated within
the Group financial statements from that date The goodwilt arising on the acquisition of Harnson 1s
attributable to the anticipated synergies expected to be derived from the combination and value of the
workforce of Harnscn, which cannot be recognised as an intangible asset under IAS 38 ‘Intangible

Assets”

Since the acquisition Harrison has contributed £8 3m ($13 2m) to Group revenue and £14m ($22m) to
the Group operating profit for the year ended 31 July 2011

b) Disposal of Great Place to Work Deutschland GmbH ("GPW Germany”)

On 30 December 2010, YouGov disposed, through a management buy-out, of Great Place to Work
Deutschland GmbH, a wholly owned subsidiary of YouGovPsychonomics AG During the year, tt
contributed revenue of £1 3m (2010 £2 7m) and operating profit of £0 2m (2010 £nil} to the Group

The net purchase consideration for the shares in GPW Germany was £0 5m payable in cash, in two
tranches, £0 3m at 30 December 2010 and the remainder on 30 June 2011 At the date of disposal,
GPW's net assets were not matenal Management have apportioned £0 7m of the goodwll pertaining to
the acquisition of the Psychonomics group in 2007 to GPW A net loss of £0 2m has been recognised as

an exceptional cost to reflect this disposal
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¢) Purchase of minonity shargholding in YouGov ME FZ LLC

On 31 October 2010, YouGov plc purchased the remamning 22% shareholding In its subsidiary YouGov
ME FZ LLC from the minonty shareholders

The cash consideration for this purchase was £1 9m The book value of non-controlling interests at the
transaction date was £3 8m The difference of £1 8m (£1 7m net of associated costs) has been reflected

directly In reserves in accordance with IAS 27 (revised)

d) Acgquisition of Definitive Insights

The acquisition of Definitive Insights (*DY), a custom research company based in Oregon USA, was
completed on 1 Aprii 2011 The basic purchase consideration payable 1s 4 5 times the average EBITDA
of D for the two years ending 31 January 2013 plus an additional incentive of up to 20% contingent upon
EBITDA growth in the year ending 31 January 2013 if the full Incentive 1s paid, this would bring the total
multiple up to 5 times EBITDA for the year ended 31 January 2013 An initial payment of $1 Om (£0 6m)
was paid upon completion and the balance will be payabile in four nstaiments between 2012 and 2015

The instalments due between 2012 and 2015 (including the incentive payment) have been discounted to
a net present value of $4 3m (£2 6m) resulting In a finance charge of $0 3m (£0 2m) taken to the income
statement over the earn-out period Half of this contingent consideration I1s being treated as staff
compensation The treatment of this 1s discussed in more detall in notes 3 and 4

Professional fees of £0 1m have been incurred dunng the year ended 31 July 2011 relating to the
acquisition  In accordance with IFRS 3 (revised) all professional fees have been expensed to the penod

that they have been incurred

Provisional fair value adjustments have been made to align Definitive Insights' accounting poticies with
those of YouGov and to account for the intangible assets and attributable deferred taxation of the
business which are recognised upon acquisiion Management are currently finalising the far value
calculations and this will be completed in the six months ended 31 January 2012

The amount recognised for each class of Definitive Insights’ assets recognised at the acquisition date are
as follows

Net assets acquired.

Acquiree's
carrying amount Provisional

before fair value Provisional

combination adjustments Fair Value

£'000 £'000 £'000

Net assets at completion date 12 - 12
Intangible assets

Trademarks and patents - 135 135

Customer relationships - 1,137 1,137

Order Backlog - 8 8

Deferred tax hiability - __(538) (638)

Net assets 12 742 754

Goodwill ansing on acquisition - - 1,168

Total consideration 1,922
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Total Consideration analysed as ° £000
Cash 612
Contingent consideration 1,310
Total consideration 1,922

Ownership and control passed to YouGov on 1 Apnl 2011 and Definitive Insights has been consolidated
within the Group financial statements from that date The goodwil! anising on the acquisition of Definitive
Insights 1s attnbutable to the anticipated synergies expected to be denved from the combination and value
of the workforce which cannot be recognised as an intangible asset under IAS 38 “Intangtble Assets’

Since the acquistion Defimtive Insights has contnbuted £1 3m (32 1m) to Group revenue and £01m
($0 2m) to the Group operating profit for the year ended 31 July 2011 If Defintive Insights had been
consolidated for a full 12 months they would have contnbuted £3 3m ($5 3m) to Group revenue and

£0 2m ($0 3m) to the Group operating profit

¢) Purchase of minority shareholding in YouGovStone Limited

On 8 June 2011, YouGov pic purchased the remaining 48% shareholding in its subsidiary YouGovStone
Limited from the minonity shareholder Carole Stone

The consideration for this purchase was part ¢ash of £0 7m and part the 1ssue of new ordinary shares in
YouGov plc of £01m The book value of non-controlling interests in assets and habilhties at the

transaction date was not matenal

f) Purchase of minonty stake in CoEditor Limited

Durning the period, YouGov plc invested £0 5m for a 25% stake in CoEditor Limited, a company owned by
Doughty Media 2 (owned by Stephan Shakespeare) CoEditor has develaped software in the field of
news and content aggregation which will be provided exclusively to YouGov for the purpose of providing
dedicated content and actwities for members of YouGov's online panels YouGov also has options to
acquire additional shares, which will enable 1t to benefit from increases in CoEditor's equity value

resulting from its business development
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10 GOODWILL

Middle North Scandi- Germany UK Total
East America navia

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Carrying amount at 1
August 2009 1,319 9,437 8,420 14,226 80 33,482
Movements:
impairment charge - - - {2,399) - (2,399)
Net exchange
differences 86 615 (217} {364) - 120
Carrying amount at 31
July 2010 1,405 10,052 8,203 11,463 80 31,203
Movements-
Acquired through
business combinations - 7,128 - - - 7,128
Disposal of subsidiary - - - (700) {80) (780)
Net exchange
differences (63) (745) 439 613 - 244
Carrying amount at 31
July 2011 1,342 16,435 8,642 11,376 - 37,795

In accordance with the Group’s accounting palicy, the carrying values of goodwill and other intangible
assets are reviewed annually for impairment The cash-generating units {CGUs) are consistent with those
segments shown in note 1 The 2011 impairment review was undertaken as at 31 July 2011 This review
assessed whether the carrying value of goodwill was supported by the net present value of future cash
flows derved from assets using an mitial projection penod of three years for each CGU based on
approved budget numbers Beyond that, EBITDA growth was assumed to be 5% for years four and five,
which 1s conservative both in companson with therr historical performance and annual growth rates in the
internet based market research sector Annual growth rates of 3% have been assumed n perpetuity
beyond year five The weighted average cost of capital used to discount the future cash flows to their

present value 1s 11 7% (2010 14 1%)

All CGUs, when subjected to sensitivity analyses had sufficient headroom to support their carrying value

At 31 July 2010, the assessment of the carrying value of the German CGU resulted in an imparment
charge of £7 9m being made of which £5 5m was agamst the intangible assets (customer contracts and
lists, patents and trademarks) and £2 4m was aganst goodwill At 31 July 2011, the sensitivity analysis
camed out on the goodwill attnbutable to the German CGU indicated that a 6% reduction In the projected
EBITDA for the year ending 31 July 2012 compared to the base case assumptions, or a 7% reduction In
the projected EBITDA for esther of the two following years, would reduce the headroom to zero
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11 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Net carrying amount
at1 August 2009
Additions
Separately acquired
Internally
developed

Amortisabion

Impairment

Net exchange
differences

Net carrying amount
at 31 July 2010

Additions
Separately acquired
Through business
combinations
Internally
developed

Disposals

Amortisation

Net exchange
differences

Net carrying amount
at 31 July 2011

Software
and Patents
Con- software Customer and
sumer develop- contracts trade- Order Development Total
panel ment and lists marks backlog costs
£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000

4,559 2,009 5,317 5,761 - 294 17,940

285 387 - 47 - 320 1,039

- 801 - - - 197 998

{1,653) (1,035) (443) (456) - (102)  (3,689)

- - (2,479) (2,983) - - (5,462)

(56) (37) (84 (92) - (12)  (281)

3,135 2,125 2,311 2,277 - 697 10,545

329 68 - 8 - 79 484

- 171 3,369 845 80 - 4475

- 1,539 - - - 84 1,623

- (31) - - - - (31)

(1,512) (1,624) (181) (270) (85) (83) (3,755)
_ (434) (234) (575) (684) - 13 (1,914

1,518 2,014 4,924 2,176 5 790 11,427

The details of the 2010 impairment charge of £5 5m are disclosed in note 10
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
property Fixtures
Freehold improve- Computer and Motor Total
property ments equipment fittings vehicles
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000

Carrying amount at
1 August 2009 1,147 160 565 725 32 2,629
Additions.

Separately acquired - 42 185 55 - 282
Depreciation {54) {68} (272) (232) (32) {658)
Net exchange
differences 64 8 26 31 - 129
Carrying amount at
31 July 201Q 1,157 142 504 579 - 2,382
Additions.

Separately acquired - 4 547 23 - 574

Through business

mbinations 177 - 39 3 14 233
Disposals - (13) (9) (30) - (52)
Depreciation (80) (77) (431) (155) (2) (745)
Net exchange
differences (52) 3 9 4 - (54)
Carrying amount at
31 July 2011 1,202 59 641 424 12 2,338

All property, plant and equipment disclosed above, with the exception of those items held under lease
purchase agreement, are free from restnictions on title No property, plant and equipment either in 2011 or
2010 has been pledged as secunty aganst the habilities of the Group
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13 INVESTMENTS
(a) Interests in subsidiares

As at 31 July 2011 the Group’s principal trading subsidianes were
Proportion Held

Class of
Country of ghare By parent By the
incerporation capltal held Company Group
YouGovM E FZLLC United Arab Ordinary 100% 100%
Emirates

YouGovPsycho- Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
nomics AG

Service Rating Germany Ordinary 0% 100%
GmbH

Psychonomics Feld Gemany Ordinary 0% 70%
GmbH

YouGov Nordics and Denmark Ordinary 100% 100%
Balic A/S

YouGov Sweden AB Sweden Ordinary 100% 100%
YouGov Norway AS Norway Qrdinary 100% 100%
YouGov Finland OY Finland Qrdinary 100% 100%
HG Acquisttion LLC USA Ordinary 0% 100%
Definitive Insights USA Ordinary 0% 100%
Ine

YouGov France France Ordinary 100% 100%
SASU

YouGovStone England Ordinary 100% 100%
Lirmited

Nature of
the
business

Market
Research
Market
Research
Rating
Agency
CATI
Suppher
Company
Market
Research
Market
Research
Market
Research
Market
Research
Market
Research
Market
Research
Market
Research
Market
Research

All subsidiaries have co-terminus year ends and are included in the consolidated financial statements

(b) Interest in joint ventures and associates

31 July 2011 31 July 2010
Total fixed asset investments comprise: £000 £'000
Carrying amount at 1 August 23 23
Acquisition of associate 500 -
Disposal of joint venture {23) -
Share of loss In associate (32) -
Interest in joint ventures and associates 468 23

The Group has not recognised losses amounting to £6k (2010 £4k) for YouGov Centaur LLP
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At 31 July 2011 the Group had interests in the following

Propertion Held
Invest- Country of Class of By parent By the Nature of the Financial
ment incorporation share Company Group business year end
capital held
YouGovCentaur Jont England Ordinary 50% 50% Specialist 30 June
LLP Venture business to
business research
CoEditor AsS0C- England Ordinary 25% 25% Website 31 July
Limited 1ate develaper
The Group's share of the revenue and operating loss and assets and habilities of joint ventures and
associates are
CoEditor Limited YouGovCentaur LLP
31 July 2011 31 July 2010 31 July 2011 31 July 2010
£'000 £000 £600 £000
Revenue - - - -
Operating loss (32) - {6) (4)
Non-current assets 1 - 2 3
Current assets 96 - 43 18
Current liabilities {4 - (150) (59)
Non-current hlabiities - - - (39)
Net
assets/(habilities) 93 - {105) {77)
14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
31 July 2011 31 July 2010
£°000 £000
Trade receivables 9,810 7.749
Amounts owed by related parties 292 123
Other receivables 1,048 087
Prepayments and accrued income 5,945 5916
17,095 14,755
Prowision for trade receivables {162) (194)
16,933 14,561
The ageing of the current trade receivables and amounts owed by related parties 1s as follows
31 July 2011 31 July 2010
£'000 £000
Within payment terms 5,017 2,966
Not more than three months overdue 3,349 3,156
More than three months but not more than six months
overdue 917 911
More than six months but not more than one year overdue 509 327
More than one year overdue 310 512
10,102 7,872
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The Group's trade receivables are stated before provisions for impared recevables This provision 1S
determined by considenng all past due balances and by reference to past default expenence

2011 2010
£'000 £000
Movement on the Group provision for impairment of trade
recewables 1s as follows
Prowvision for recelvables imparment at 1 August 194 132
Provision created i the year 112 166
Provision utilised in the year (144) (104)
Provision for receivables impairment at 31 July 162 194

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in the consolidated
income statement The other classes wthin trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets

The maximum exposure to credit nsk at the reporting date i1s the carrying value of each class of
recevable mentioned above The Group does not hold any collateral as secunty

The average length of time taken by customers to settle receivables 1s 61 days (2010 61 days) The
Directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other recewvables approximates their fair value
Concentrations of credit risk do exist with certain clients with which we have trading relationships but
none has a history of default and all command a certain stature within the marketplace which minimises
any potential nsk of default Matenal palances (defined as >£250k (2010 >£250k)) represent 12% of

trade recewvables (2010 23%)

At 31 July 2011 £435,000 (DKK 3 7m) (2010 £290k (DKK 2 6m)) of the trade and other recevables of
YouGov Nordics & Baltic A/S was used as secunty against a loan and revolving overdraft facility held by

YouGov Nordics & Baltic A/S

YouGovPsychonomics AG has secured a value of up to €144k (£126k) (2010 €144k (£120k)) In the
event of default on rental payments against its trade and other receivables

15 OTHER SHORT TERM FINANCIAL ASSETS

31 July 2011 31 July 2010
£'000 £'000
- 165

Available-for-sale financial assets

Other short term financial assets represented corporate bonds that present the Group with opportunity
for returns through interest income and trading gains They had a fixed matunty of less than three
months The investment was held at cost Fair value of the asset was not matenally different from its

histoncal cost
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16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand

31 July 2011

£'000

9,400

31 July 2010

15,634

Cash and cash equivalents are held at either vanable rates or at rates fixed for periods of no longer

than three months

17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Accruals and deferred income
Other payables

31 July 2011

31 July 2010

£:000
1,941 1,416
7,585 7,040
2,076 1,690
11,602 10,146

The average length of time taken by the Group to settle payables 1s 32 days (2010 34 days) The

Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to therr fair value

18 CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION

Clear Definitive
Horizons Harrison Insights Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
At 1 August 2009 929 - - 929
Settled dunng the year (278) - - (278)
Discount unwinding 13 - - 13
Balance at 31 July 2010 664 - - 664
Included within current liabilities 304 - - 304
Included within non-current habilities 360 - - 360
Settled in the period (266) (1,809) - (2,075)
Provided duning the year - 5,504 1,658 7,162
Discount unwinding 21 156 12 189
Net foreign exchange differences 6 (265) {(17) (276}
Balance at 31 July 2011 425 3,586 1,653 5,664
Included within current habilities 425 2,116 297 2,838
In¢luded within non-current
habilities - 1,470 1,356 2,826

Details of the terms of the acquisitions of Hamson Group and Definitive Insights are given in Note 9
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19 PROVISIONS

Panel Staff
incentives gratuity Other* Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 August 2009 1,630 108 - 1,738
Provided dunng the
year 3,835 127 965 4,927
Uthsed dunng the year (2,625) {1186) - {2,741)
Released dunng the
year (279) (36) - (315)
Net fareign exchange
differences 25 7 - 32
Balance at 31 July
201¢0* 2,588 90 965 3,841
Included within current
lhabilities 1,278 - 965 2,243
Included within non-
current habiities 1,308 90 - 1,398
Provided during the
year 4,542 81 - 4623
Utiised duning the year (3,490) (29) (844) (4,363)
Released during the
year (722) (6) (121) (849)
Net foreign exchange
differences (6) 4 - {10
Balance at 31 July
2011 2,910 132 - 3,042
Included within
current habilities 1,437 - - 1,437
Included within non-
current habilibes 1,473 132 - 1,605

The panel incentive provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the future hability in relation to
the value of panel incentives that have accrued in the panelists’ virtual accounts up to 31 July 2011
The provision of £2 9m represents 33% of the maximum potential hability of £8 9m (2010 £2 6m
representing 30% of the total hability of £8 6m) The factors considered in estmating the approprate
percentage of the total hability to be provided against at each reporting date include panel chum
rates, panel activity rates, current redemption patterns and the time value of money

The staff gratuity provision is a statutory obligation under UAE labour law, whereby each employee on
termination of therr contract 1s due a payment dependent upon their number of years service and
nature of the termination The hability of £0 1m at 31 July 2011 {2010 £0 1m) represents the hability
that the Group is obliged to pay as at the reporting date weighted agamst histoncal rates of resignation

and redundancy

*Other provision refates to the prowision in respect of the put-option held by Carole Stone as at 31 July
2010 which was re-stated as explained in Note 4
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20 DEFERRED TAXATION ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Property, plant &

Non-current deferred tax asset equipment Tax losses Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
Balance at 1 August 2009 27 2,483 2,510
Recognised in consolidated
income statement 33 90 123
Net foreign exchange
differences - 52 52
Tax rate adjustment - (79) {79)
Balance at 31 July 2010 60 2,546 2,606
Recognised in consolidated
income statement (&) (639) (645)
Net foreign exchange
differences (9 {13) {22)
Balance at 31 July 2011 45 1,894 1,939

The deferred taxation asset in respect of Income tax losses are broken down by unsdiction as follows

31 July 2011 31 July 2010

£'000 £'000
UK 592 626
Scandinavia & Northern Europe 767 780
North America 535 1,140
1,894 2,546

Where tax losses are acquired as in our North American business a restniction 1s placed upon the use
of those pre-acquisition losses The restnction 1s calculated by multiplying the long term rate of interest
(currently 4 58%) against the consideration paid On this basis the current value of loss that can be
used annually 1s £0 7m No such restrictions exist in relation to any of our other tax losses

Deferred tax assets have been recognised only to the extent where management budgets and forecasts
show sufficient profits being generated to discharge these in the short term Utilisation of tax losses Is

dependable upon future profits being generated
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Non-current deferred
tax habilities

Balance at 1 August
2009

Recognised in
consohdated ncome
statement

Tax rate adjustment
Net foreign exchange
differences

Balance at 31 July
2010

Recognised In
consolidated mncome
statement

Acquired on
acquisition

Net foreign exchange
differences

Balance at 31 July
2011

Property,
Intangible plant&  Other timing
assefs equipment differences Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
5,521 386 198 6,105
(2,675) (226) 196 (2,705)
(4) 1 ) (12)
(124) 36 (2) (90)
2,718 195 385 3,298
(837) (36) (3} (876)
1,808 - - 1,808
(577) g (51) (619)
3,112 168 331 3,611
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21 RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group 1s exposed to foreign currency and hquidity nsk, which result from both its operating and
investing activites The Group's nsk management Is co-ordinated in close co-operation with the
Board of Directors, and focuses on actively secuning the Group's short to medium term cash flows by
minimising the exposure to financial markets The most significant financial nisks to which the Group
15 exposed to are described below Also refer to the accounting policies

Foreign currency risk

The Group Is exposed to translation and transaction foreign exchange nsk The currencies where the
Group 1s most exposed to volatility are US Doilars, Euro, UAE Dirham and Danish Kroner

Currently, the Group aims to align assets and liabilities in a particular market The Group will continue
to review its currency nisk position as the overall business profile changes

The presentational and transactional currency of the Group Is considered to be UK Sterling

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and lrabiities, translated mto UK Sterling at the closing
rate are as follows

2011 2010

£'000 £000
Nominal us Euro Dirham  Kroner us Euro Dirham Kroner
amounts $ € AED DKK $ € AED DKK
Financial
assets 4478 2,445 6,112 1,683 5,166 2,268 7.816 777
Financial
habilities {4,069) (1,004) (135)  {1,380) {133) _(1,009) (74)  (1177)
Short-term
exposure 409 1,441 5,377 313 5,033 1,259 7,842  (400)
Financial
assets - - - - - - - -
Financial
liabiliies - - - - - - - -
Long-term
exposure - - - - - - - -

The effect of UK Sterling strengthening by 1% against our subsidiaries’ functional currencies (US
Dollar, Euro, UAE Dirham and Danish Kroner) would have had the following impact upon translation

us
$
Net result for (4)
the year
Equity (44)

2011
£'000

Euro Dirham
€ AED

m
(12)

(22)

{(187)

Kroner
DKK

4
(3)

us
$

(1
{41)

2010
£'000
Euro Diham Kroner
€ AED DKK
1 (15) 5
(10} {174) 1

If the UK Sterling had weakened by 1% against the US Dollar, Euro, UAE Dirham and Danish Kroner

the inverse of the impact above would be true

The Group manages currency fluctuations as outlined In the Corporate Govemnance Report on page

25
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Liquidity risk

The Group seeks to manage financial risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity 1s available to meet foreseeable
needs and to Invest cash assets safely and profitably

The Group currently has no general borrowing arrangement in place {although specific fixed value
borrowings are held within the Group) and prepares cash flow forecasts which are reviewed at Board

meetings to ensure hquidity

As at 31 July 2011, the Group’s liabilities have contractual maturities which are summarised below

Current Non-current
Within 6 Later than &
31 July 2011 months 6 to 12 months 1 -5 years years
£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
Trade and other 2,056 - - -
payables
Contingent - 2,838 2,826 -
consideration

This compares to the maturity of the Group's financial liabiliies 1n the previous reporting period as follows

Current Non-current
Within 6 Later than 5
31 July 2010 months 6 to 12 months 1-5years years
£000 £'000 £000 £000
Trade and other 3,161 35 - -
payables
Contingent - 304 360 -
consideration

The Group has sufficient financial nsk management policies In place to ensure that all trade payables
are settled within the respective credit period

Capital nsk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that all entities within the Group are able to continue as
going concerns The Board have taken the decision at this stage to minimise external debt whilst
trying to maximise earnings from the cash currently held Capital consists of the following items

31 July 2011 31 July 2010*

£'000 £'000

Available-for-sale financial assets - 165

Cash and cash equivalents 9,400 15,634
Equity attributabie to sharehaolders of the parent

company (55,799) {55,203)

(46,399) (39,404)

The Group has no externally imposed capital requirements
*All comparative information including the relevant notes has been restated to reflect a prior year

adjustment, see notes 4 and 19 for full details

73




YOUGOV PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 July 2011

Interest rate risk

The Group manages its interest rate risk by negotiating fixed interest rates on deposits for penods of
up to 3 months The average cash and cash equivalents baiance over the course of the year was
£10m (2010 £150m) attracting an average interest rate of 1 0% (2010 10%) If interest rates had
been 1% higher during the year ended 31 July 2011 the increase to profit before tax would have been
£100k (2010 £150k) If interest rates had been 1% lower during the year ended 31 July 2011 the
reduction In profit before tax would have been £100k (2010 £150k) The impact upon shareholders’
equity would have been an increase of £83k (2010 £100k) and a decrease of £83k (2010 £100k)

respectively

22 SHARE CAPITAL

The Company only has one class of share Par value of each ordinary share 1s 02p All 1ssued shares

are fully paid
Number £000
Year to 31 July 2011
At 1 August 2010 96,827 414 194
Issue of shares 302,051 1
At 31 July 2011 97,129,465 185
Year to 31 July 2010
At 1 August 2009 96,733,177 193
Issue of shares 04 237 1
At 31 July 2010 96,827 414 194
Number £'000
Authorised share capital
At 31 July 2010 & 31 July 2011
Ordinary shares @ 0 2p each 150,000,000 300

Share based payments

The charge In relation to the share-based payments in the year ended 31 July 2011 was £104,000
(2010 £134,000) Details of the number of share options and the weighted average exercise price

(WAEP) outstanding during the year are as follows

2011 WAEP 2010 WAEP

Approved share option scheme No. £ No £

Qutstanding at the begmning of the year 129,056 0.869 129,056 0869
Granted duning the year - - - -
Exercised durnng the year - - - -
L apsed dunng the year - - - -
Qutstanding at the end of the year 129,056 0 869 129,056 0869
Exercisable at the end of the year 129,056 0 B69 129,056 0869
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2011 WAEP 2010 WAEP

Unapproved share option scheme No £ No £

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 438,231 0 232 538,990 0211
Granted dunng the year - - - -
Exercised during the year (73,218) 0.099 (94,237) 0112
Lapsed dunng the year (2,615) 0 094 {(6,522) 0190
Qutstanding at the end of the year 362,398 0 253 438,231 0232
Exercisable at the end of the year 362,398 0.253 379,057 0236

Share options exercised in the current financial year were exercised at pnces between £0 094 and
£0 194 (2010 between £0 093 and £0 199) The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
was £0 099 (2010 £0 112)

The options cutstanding under the approved and unapproved share option schemes as at 31 July
2011 have the following average exercise prices and expire in the following financial years

Exercise
Expiry Price 2011 2010
£ No. No
31 July 2013 0 180 24,000 24,000
31 July 2015 0.180 44335 44 335
31 July 2017 1.645 82,067 82,067
31 August 2021* 0.166 341,052 416,885

* The Polimetrix options expire on a manthly basis up to and including August 2021

Expiry dates as standard are 7 years from the vesting date Vesting critena are time based and
contingent on continued employment with YouGov rather than performance based

During the year ended 31 July 2011, the Long Term Incentive Plan {“LTIP") for Executive Directors,

Senior Executives and Senior Managers continued to operate The rules governing the LTIP are |
summansed in the Remuneration Report on page 19 The charge in relation to the LTIP in the year -
ended 31 July 2011 was £100k (2010 £14k) This charge was valued using a Monte Carle simulation !

2011 WAEP 2010 WAEP
Long term incentive plan (LTIP) No £ No £
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 3,925,992 0.000 2,034,655 0000
Granted during the year 2,314,909 0.000 1,891,337 0 000
Exercised during the year - - - -
Lapsed during the year {284,041) 0.000 - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 5,956,860 0 000 3,925,992 0 000

Exercisable at the end of the year - -

Duning the year ended 31 July 2011, a Deferred Stock Scheme was ntroduced for Executive Directors
and Sentor Managers The rules governing the Deferred Stock Scheme are summansed n the
Remuneration Report on page 18 The charge in relation to the Deferred Stock Scheme n the year
ended 31 July 2011 was £133k (2010 £ml) This charge was valued using a Black-Scholes model
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For the year ended 31 July 2011

2011 WAEP 2010 WAEP
Deferred Stock Scheme No. £ No £
Qutstanding at the beginning of the year - - - -
Granted during the year 1,500,000 0 000 -
Exercised during the year - - -
Lapsed during the year - - -
QOutstanding at the end of the year 1,500,000 0 000 -
Exercisable at the end of the year - - -
The farr value of shares and share options granted under the various schemes has been calculated

using the Black-Scholes option pricing mode! No performance conditions were included in the fair

value calculation The farr value per option granted and the assumptions made are listed below
Black-Scholes model assumptions 2011
Share pnce {p) 40
Exercise price {p) -
Estimated life (years) 30
Risk-free interest rate N/A
Dividend yield 0 0%
Volatility N/A
Basic fair vaiue of option {p) 40
Options granted/shares awarded 1,500,000
Fair value of share options (£m) 40
Vesting adjustment factor 100%
Total scheme adjusted fair value (£Em) 06
Performance penod (years) 30
Annual Income statement charge which would be applied over the performance 02

period (£m)

The aggregate profit and loss charge for share based payments I disclosed n note 1

23 LEASING COMMITMENTS

The minimum lease rentals to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases at 31 July 2011 are as

follows
31 July 2011 31 July 2010
Land and Land and
buildings Other buildings Other
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000
In one year or less 642 254 1,191 84
Between one and five years 1,855 523 1,046 140
In five years or more - - 15 34
2,497 777 2,252 258
24 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
At 31 July 2011, the Group had no outstanding commitments to procure software {2010 £nil)
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25 MAJOR NON CASH TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered Into a barter transaction with Centaur plc, a joint venture partner, to exchange the
provision of Brandindex content for advertising within its publications for £327k (2010 £327k)

Other barter transactions totalled £527k (2010 £136k)
26 TRANSACTIONS WITH DIRECTORS AND OTHER RELATED PARTIES

There have been no transactions with Directors during the year

During the period, YouGov plc provided research services totalling £90k (2010 £128k) to Privero Capital
Advisors Inc A minority stake of 25% in this company 1s owned by Stephan Shakespeare, an Executive
Director of YouGov plc The sales were made at an arm's length and on usual commercial terms These
arrangements have previously been disclosed as a related party transaction under the AIM Rules for
Compantes At 31 July 2011 Privero Capital Advisors Inc owed YouGov plc £292k (2010 £208k)

Duning the penod, YouGov pic invested £500k for a 25% stake in CoEditor Limited, a company owned by
Doughty Media 2 (owned by Stephan Shakespeare)

In the year ended 31 July 2011, YouGov plc provided research services totalling £nil (2010 £30k) to
Doughty Media Limited, a company which Stephan Shakespeare owns At 31 July 2011, Doughty

Media Limited owed YouGov plc £nil (2010 £nl)

Trading between YouGov pic and group companies I1s excluded from the related party note as this has
been ehminated on consolidation

27 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No matenial events have taken place subsequent to the reporting date

77




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF YOUGOV PLC ON THE
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2011

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF YOUGOV PLC ON THE PARENT
COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the parent company financial statements of YouGov plc for the year ended 31 July 2011
which compnise the Balance Sheet, the Accounting Policies and the related notes The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in therr preparation 1s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the

preparation of the parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair iew Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the parent company financial statements
In accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and lreland) Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, Including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company's members as a
body In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Comparues Act 2006 and for no other purpose  We
do not, In giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
perscn to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by

our prior consent in wnting

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining ewidence about the amounts and disclosures In the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are
appropnate to the parent company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall
presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information
in the Directors’ Report to 1dentify matenal inconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we
become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications

for our report

Opinion on financial statements

in our opinion the parent company financial statements

+ gwve a true and far view of the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 July 2011,

« have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, and

« have been prepared In accordance with the requirements of the Compames Act
2006
Opinion on other matter prescnbed by the Companies Act 2006

in our opinion the information gwen in the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the parent
company financial statements are prepared I1s consistent with the parent company financial statements
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us
to report to you ff, in our opinion

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us, or

« the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns, or

s certain disclosures of directors’' remuneration specified by law are not made, or
» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of YouGov plc for the year ended 31 July
2011

David A Snell (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

10 October 2011
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YOUGOV PLC
COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

At 31 July 2011

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments

Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors’ amounts falling due within one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Provision for habilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premiurn account
Merger reserve

Profit and loss account
Total Shareholders’ funds

Note

o) 4 N

1"

10

31 July 2011 31 July 2010
£'000 £°000
206 191
283 380
36,691 33,546
37,180 34,117
17,115 13,070
867 5424
17,982 18,494
(8,272) (11,104)
9,710 7,390
46,890 41,507
(141) (171)
46,749 41,336
195 194
30,047 30,822
9,239 9,239
6,368 1,081
46,749 41,336

The accounting policies and notes on pages 81 to 88 form an integral part of this financial statement

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 October 2011 and signed on its

behalf by

Alah New!
Chief Financial Officer
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YOUGOV PLC
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

For the year ended 31 July 2011

Basis of preparation

The separate financial statements of the Company are drawn up In accordance with the Companies Act
2006 and applicable accounting standards drawn from UK generally accepted accounting principles (UK
GAAP) The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention and on the going

concern basis

The Company has also taken advantage of the exemption from prepanng a cash flow statement under
the terms of FRS 1 'Cash Flow Statement (revised 1996)° The cash flows of the Company are disclosed
as part of the consolidated cash flow statement within the consolidated financial statements

The particular accounting policies adopted are detalled below They have all been appled consistently
throughout the current year and the prior year

Related parties

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained In FRS 8 'Related party disclosures’
and has not reported transactions with fellow Group undertakings Further detals are included in note

26 of the consolidated financial statements

Pane! incentive costs

The Company invites consumer panel members to fill out surveys for a cash or pomnts based incentive
Although these amounts are not paid until a pre-determined target value has accrued on a panelst's
account, an assessment of incentives likely to be paid 1s made and 1s recognised as a cost of sale in the
penod in which the service 1s provided This assessment now takes into account the likely savings
expected from the lottery ntroduced dunng the year

Share-based payments

All goods and services received In exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured
at their farr values Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fair values of
employees’ services are determined indirectly by reference to the fair value of the instrument granted r
to the employee This fair value i1s appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of non-market
vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets) |

Where equity-settled share-based payments relate to employees of the Company these are ultimately
recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account with a corresponding credit to the profit and
loss reserve Where equity-setiled share-based payments relate to employees of subsidianes of the
Company these are treated as a capital contribution, Increasing the value of the investment in the
subsichary with a corresponding credit to the profit and loss reserve

If vesting periods or other non-market vesting conditions apply, the expense Is aflocated over the
vesting period, based on the best available estmate of the number of share options expected to vest
Estimates are revised subsequently If there 1s any indication that the number of share options
expected to vest differs from previous estimates Any cumulative adjustment prior to vesting 1s
recogrused in the current period  No adjustment is made to any expense recognised in prnior periods If
share options that have vested are not exercised

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital, and where appropriate share premium
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YOUGOV PLC
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

For the year ended 31 July 2011

Intangible fixed asset

Panel acquisition costs reflect the direct, external cost of recruiing new panel members A formula
based on panel churn for the preceding 12 months determines the element which I1s enhancement and
that which 1s mantenance Only enhancement i1s capitahised as cost to the Company less
accumulated amortisation  Amortisation I1s charged so as to write off the panel acquisition costs over
three years, this being the Directors’ estimate of the average active hfe of a panel member.

Trademark costs reflect the direct cost of trademarks acquired to protect the YouGov brand and its
products Amortisation is not charged as trademarks are infinite m therr longevity The Company
conducts an annual impairment review to ensure all trademarks are carried at appropnate values

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost of the onginal purchase or development, net of accumulated
depreciation and any provision for impairment

Depreciation Is calculated to write down the cost less estimated residual value of all tangible fixed assets
by annual installments over their estimated useful economic lives The rates generally applicable are

Leasehold praperty and improvements fe of the lease

Fixtures and fitings on a reducing balance basis 25%
Computer software and hardware on a straight line basts 33%
33%

Software development costs on a straight ine basis

Costs that are directly attnbutable to the deveiopment of new business application software and which are
incurred during the period prior to the date the software 1s placed into operational use are capitahised as
software development costs External costs and internal costs are capitalised to the extent they generate
future economic benefit for the business, whilst intemnal costs are only capitalised if they are incremental
to the Group Once the new business application software is operational it 1s depreciated at the rates set

out In the above table

Research and development

Research expenditure 1s charged to profits in the period in which it is incurred  Software development
costs incurred on specific projects are recogrused to the extent that they comply with the requirements
of SSAP 13, 1 @ when recoverability can be assessed with reasonable certainty and amortised n iine
with the expected sales ansing from the projects All other development costs are written off in the

year of expenditure

Investments

Investments are included at cost less amounts written off  The carrying value is considered annually by
the Directors in comparison aganst the potential net realisable value

Leased assets — operating leases

Operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the lease
term
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Deferred taxation

Deferred tax 1s recognised on all timing differences where the transactions or events that give the
Company an obligation to pay more tax in the future, or a right to pay less fax in the future, have
occurred by the balance sheet date Deferred tax assets are recagnised only when, on the basis of all
available evidence, it can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits
against which to recover camed forward tax losses and from which the future reversal of underlying
timing differences can be deducted Deferred tax 1s measured using rates of tax that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date The deferred tax provision is heid at its

current value and not discounted
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For the year ended 31 July 2011

1 PROFIT OF PARENT COMPANY
The parent company has taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not

included ts own profit and toss account in these financial statements The parent company’s profit for
the year was £4,950k (2010 loss of £4,536K) This includes audtt fees for the Company of £40k (2010

£40k)

2 STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

Staff costs (including Directors) charged to administration expenses during the year were as follows

31 July 31 July

2011 2010

£'000 £'000

Wages and salanes 5,168 5,363
Social security costs 558 470
Share-based payments 233 14
Other benefits 28 27
5,987 5,874

The average monthly number of employees of the Group duning the year was as follows

31 July 31 July

2011 2010

Number Number

Key management personnel 7 4
Administration and operations 79 76
86 80

Specific disclosures in relation to compensation for key management personnel (defined as entty
Directors andfor Chief Executive Officers) who held office during the year was as follows

31 July 31 July

2011 2010

£°000 £000

Short-term employee benefits 526 617
Share-based payments 66 5
592 622

Disclosure of Directors' remuneration including share options are included in the Remuneration Report
on pages 18 - 21,

3 DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year (2010 £nil)
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4 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Panel
acquisition
costs  Trademarks Total
£000 £000 £'000
Cost
At 1 August 2010 255 106 361
Additions 78 8 86
At 31 July 2011 333 114 447
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 August 2010 170 - 170
Provided in the year 71 - 71
At 31 July 2011 241 - 241
Net book amount at 31 July 2011 92 114 206
Net book amount at 31 July 2010 85 106 191
§ TANGIBLE ASSETS
Software  Fixtures Computer Leasehold
develop- and software and  property and
ment fittings hardware improvements Total
costs
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Cost
At 1 August 2010 418 321 812 177 1,728
Additions - 5 104 - 109
At 31 July 2011 418 326 916 177 1,837
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 August 2010 418 192 616 122 1,348
Provided in the year - 3 138 35 206
At 31 July 2011 418 225 754 157 1,554
Net book amount at 31 - 101 162 20 283
July 2011
Net book amount at 31 July
2010 - 129 196 55 380
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6 FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Total fixed asset iInvestments comprise
31 July 2011 31 July 2010
£000 £:000
Interest in subsidiaries 35,750 33,166
Interest In joint ventures and associates 600 43
Capital contributions ansing from share-based payments 441 337
36,691 33,546

The value of investments is determined on the basis of the cost to the Company

The Company's principal trading subsidiaries and joint ventures are listed in note 13 of the

consolidated financial statements

The Directors believe that the carrying value of the investments 1s supported by their underlying net

assets

7 DEBTORS
31 July 2011 31 July 2010
£'000 £000
Trade debtors 3,424 2,916
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 9,798 6,524
Amounts owed by joint ventures - 122
Other debtors 73 337
Prepayments and accrued income 2,166 1,599
Deferred taxation 1,654 1,572
17,115 13,070

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are unsecured, Interest free, have no fixed date of payment

and are repayable on demand

8 CREDITORS AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
31 July 2011 31 July 2010
£'000 £000
Trade creditors 457 343
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 3,292 6,657
Taxation and social security 1,067 532
Other creditors 15 -
Accruals 2,742 3,168
Deferred income 699 404
8,272 11,104

Some amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured, Interest free, have no fixed date of

payment and are repayable on demand
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9 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

31 July 2011 31 July 2010
Deferred tax £000 £'000
At 1 August 171 252
Released during year in profit and loss account {30) (81)
At 31 July 141 171

The deferred tax charge in the current and pnor years represents accelerated capital allowances on
fixed assets acquired

10 RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN SHAREDHOLDERS FUNDS

Shere

Called-up premium Profit and
share capital account Merger reserve loss acoount TOTAL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Balance at 31 July 2009 183 30,811 9,239 5,469 45712
Changes in equity for 2010
Loss for the year - - - (4,536) (4,538)
Total recognised expense for the year - - - {4,526) (4,536)
issue of share capital through exercise of share optians 1 11 - - 12
Share-based payments - - - 148 148
Balance at 31 July 2010 194 30,822 9,239 1,081 41,336
Changes in equity for 2011
Profit for the year - - - 4,950 4,950
Total recognised income for the year - - - 4,950 4,950
Purchase of minonty interests 1 125 - - 126
Share-based payments - - - 337 337
Balance at 31 July 2011 1956 30,947 9,239 6,368 46,749

87



YOUGOV PLC

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 July 2011

11 CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

The Company only has one class of share Par value of each ordinary share 1s 0 2p All 1ssued shares
are fully paud

Number £000

Year to 31 July 2011

At 1 August 2010 96,827,414 194
Issue of shares 302,051 1
At 31 July 2011 97,129,465 195
Year to 31 July 2010

At 1 August 2009 96,733,177 193
Issue of shares 94,237 1
At 31 July 2010 96,827,414 194

Further detalls on the 1ssues of share capital are included in note 22 of the consolidated financial
statements

Authorised share capital Number £'000

At 31 July 2011
Ordinary shares @ 0 2p each 150,000,000 300

At 31 July 2010
Ordinary shares @ 0 2p each 150,000,000 300

12 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Company's share based payments are included in note 22 of the consolidated financial
statements The charge included In the profit and loss account of the Company I1s £233k (2010 £14k)
The increase in investment in respect of subsidianes 1s £104k (2010 £134k)

13 LEASING COMMITMENTS

Operating lease payments amounting to £343k (2010 £439k) are due within one year Annual
commitments under operating leases which expire i the following periods as follows

2011 2010
Land and Land and
buildings Other buildings Other
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
- 289 5

In one year or less

Between one and five years 321 22 289 -

In five years or more -
321 22 578 5

14 MAJOR NON CASH TRANSACTIONS

The Company entered into a barter transaction with Centaur pic, a joint ventwe partner, to exchange
the prowision of Brandindex content for advertising within its publications for £327k (2010 £327k)

Other barter transactions deemed not material In aggregate totalled £28k (2010 £28k)
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